

Original citation:

Murphy, Ashley R., Laslett, Andrew, O'Brien, Carmel M. and Cameron, Neil R. (2017) Scaffolds for 3D in vitro culture of neural lineage cells. Acta Biomaterialia, 54. pp. 1-20.

Permanent WRAP URL:

http://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/88912

Copyright and reuse:

The Warwick Research Archive Portal (WRAP) makes this work by researchers of the University of Warwick available open access under the following conditions. Copyright © and all moral rights to the version of the paper presented here belong to the individual author(s) and/or other copyright owners. To the extent reasonable and practicable the material made available in WRAP has been checked for eligibility before being made available.

Copies of full items can be used for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge. Provided that the authors, title and full bibliographic details are credited, a hyperlink and/or URL is given for the original metadata page and the content is not changed in any way.

Publisher's statement:

© 2017, Elsevier. Licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

A note on versions:

The version presented here may differ from the published version or, version of record, if you wish to cite this item you are advised to consult the publisher's version. Please see the 'permanent WRAP URL' above for details on accessing the published version and note that access may require a subscription.

For more information, please contact the WRAP Team at: wrap@warwick.ac.uk

Scaffolds for 3D In Vitro Culture of Neural Lineage Cells

Ashley R. Murphy^a, Andrew Laslett^{b,c}, Carmel M. O'Brien^{b,c}, Neil R. Cameron^a*

^a Department of Materials Science and Engineering, Monash University, 22 Alliance Lane, Clayton, VIC 3800, Australia.

^b CSIRO Manufacturing, Bag 10, Clayton South MDC, VIC 3168, Australia.

^c Australian Regenerative Medicine Institute, Science, Technology, Research and Innovation Precinct (STRIP), Monash University, Clayton Campus, Wellington Road, Clayton, VIC 3800, Australia

Corresponding author: Prof Neil R. Cameron, Department of Materials Science and Engineering, Monash University, 22 Alliance Lane, Clayton, VIC 3800, Australia. T: +61 3 99020774; <u>neil.cameron@monash.edu</u>.

Abstract

Understanding how neurodegenerative disorders develop is not only a key challenge for researchers but also for the wider society, given the rapidly ageing populations in developed countries. Advances in this field require new tools with which to recreate neural tissue *in vitro* and produce realistic disease models. This in turn requires robust and reliable systems for performing 3D *in vitro* culture of neural lineage cells. This review provides a state of the art update on three-dimensional culture systems for *in vitro* development of neural tissue, employing a wide range of scaffold types including hydrogels, solid porous polymers, fibrous materials and decellularised tissues as well as microfluidic devices and lab-on-a-chip systems. To provide some context with in vivo development of the central nervous system (CNS), we also provide a brief overview of the neural stem cell niche, neural development and neural differentiation *in vitro*. We conclude with a discussion of future directions for this exciting and important field of biomaterials research.

Keywords

Neural stem cells; scaffolds; 3D cell culture; polymers; hydrogels.

Statement of Significance

Neurodegenerative diseases, including dementia, Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases and motor neuron diseases, are a major societal challenge for ageing populations. Understanding these conditions and developing therapies against them will require the development of new physical models of healthy and diseased neural tissue. Cellular models resembling neural tissue can be cultured in the laboratory with the help of 3D scaffolds – materials that allow the organisation of neural cells into tissue-like structures. This review presents recent work on the development of different types of scaffolds for the 3D culture of neural lineage cells and the generation of functioning neural-like tissue. These *in vitro* culture systems are enabling the development of new approaches for modelling and tackling diseases of the brain and CNS.

Graphical Abstract



Scaffold Types

Modification Factors

Applications

Abbreviations

2D	two dimensional
3D	three dimensional
BDNF	brain derived neurotrophic factor
bFGF	basic fibroblast growth factor
BMP	bone morphogenic protein
CNS	central nervous system
CNTF	ciliary neurotrophic factor
d	days
ECM	extra cellular matrix
ECS	embryonic stem cell
EGF	epidermal growth factor
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
FGF8	fibroblast growth factor 8
GSK3βi	glycogen synthase kinase-3 β inhibitor
hiPSC	human induced pluripotent stem cell
hPSC	human pluripotent stem cell
iPSC	induced pluripotent stem cell
NGF	nerve growth factor
NPC	neural progenitor cell
NS/PC	neural stem/progenitor cell
NSC	neural stem cell
PEG	poly(ethylene glycol)
PHEMA	poly(hydroxyethyl methacrylate)
PLA	poly(lactic acid)

- RA retinoic acid
- RG radial glial stem cell
- SGZ subgranular zone
- SHH sonic hedgehog
- SVZ subventricular zone
- VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor
- vmIPN variable moduli interpenetrating polymer network

Contents

1. Introduction	8
2. The neural stem cell niche and neural differentiation in vitro	9
2.1 The embryonic neural stem cell niche and human brain development	10
2.2 The adult human neural stem cell niche	11
2.3 Biological factors regulating/influencing neurogenesis in the neural stem cell niche	12
2.4 The extracellular matrix of the Central Nervous System	13
2.5 Replicating neural differentiation pathways in vitro	15
3. Scaffolds for 3D in vitro NPC culture	. 17
3.1 Hydrogel Scaffolds	23
3.2 Solid porous scaffolds	28
3.3 Fibrous scaffolds	30
3.4 Acellular Scaffolds	31
3.5 Microfluidic Devices/Lab-on-a-chip systems	32
4. Scaffold modifications to support neural lineage differentiation	. 34
4.1 Topography and morphology	34
4.2 Mechanical Properties	35
4.3 Surface Chemistry	37
5. Application of 3D in vitro neural lineage cell culture in disease modelli	ng
	. 39
6. Outlook	. 42
6.1 Disease Modelling	42
6.2 Drug Screening	42
6.3 Surgical Implants	43
7 Conduciona	лл
7. Conclusions	. 44

1. Introduction

The brain is the least understood organ in the human body. It is difficult to access, highly susceptible to damage and complex in structure and function. The poor understanding of the human brain is reflected in the lack of effective treatments for various neurological disorders such as Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease and motor neuron disorders. To address this research gap, new methods for the culture of human neural (neuronal and glial) lineage cells, particularly *in vitro* 3D culture, are being developed to more accurately reconstruct the complex *in vivo* structure and function of the human brain.

Human somatic cells cultured in flat, stiff, 2D environments typically display an irregular morphology and form unnatural cell-cell interactions [1]. Traditional monolayer cell cultures are simple and convenient to analyse, however tissue specific architecture, mechanical and biochemical cues and cell-cell communication are lost to various degrees. This can lead to physiological inaccuracies that can be extremely problematic for disease modelling and preclinical drug screening. In cancer research, it has been found that studies with animal models often do not result in successful translation to human trials because of the limited similarity to human physiology [2]. Both these scenarios can have considerable detrimental impacts on the progression of new drug candidates from pre-clinical trials to clinical trials, and can be particularly evident when modelling complex disease states such as those found in the central nervous system (CNS) [3].

Three dimensional (3D) cell culture systems aim to replicate the *in situ* functions of living tissue, by providing a more physiologically relevant environment for cell growth and function. Engineering neural tissue that is truly representative of that found in the human brain and central nervous system requires a scaffold to recreate the 3D *in vivo*

microenviornment. Various materials (natural and synthetic) in different formats (gels, porous solids and fibres) can be used as scaffolds to aid the 3D culture of replicating and terminally differentiated cells. To aid tissue growth and increase physiological relevance, scaffolds can be surface modified, mechanically tuned or chemically/biologically functionalised all of which have been shown to aid cell attachment, proliferation and differentiation. This review describes recent progress on developing scaffolds for the *in vitro* 3D culture of neural stem cells and their derivative neuronal and glial lineage cell types. To give the reader a deeper understanding of the topic, it also provides some background information on neurogenesis and the neural stem cell (NSC) niche in the embryonic and adult human brain.

2. The neural stem cell niche and neural differentiation in vitro

Somatic/adult stem cells reside in specialized microenvironments that provide specific extracellular conditions, primarily to maintain quiescence to prevent cell exhaustion, but also to induce differentiation and cell specialisation when required. Various stem cell niches exist within the adult human body including the bone marrow, the bulge of the hair follicle, the apex of the testis and the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the brain [4]. Much like any extracellular environment, the stem cell niche influences cell behaviour by a combination of signals from the extracellular matrix (ECM), various factors, nutrient and waste gradients, oxygen concentration, shear stress and temperature. The stem cell niche provides the ideal set of conditions for the maintenance and differentiation of stem cells. Understanding the makeup and function of the niche is critical in the construction of environments that mimic it, particularly in the field of tissue engineering. [5].

2.1 The embryonic neural stem cell niche and human brain development

In the developing embryo, four weeks post-conception, invaginating epithelial neural plate cells form what is known as the neural tube, a single layer of proliferating columnar neuroepithelial cells that eventually give rise to the CNS (brain and spinal cord). Through careful spatial and temporal environmental control, these primary neural stem cells can form neurons and glial cells, and organize themselves into the CNS. Neuroepithelial cells extend from ventricular (apical) to pial (basal) surfaces in an orientation known as apical-basal polarity. Neuroepithelial cells initially divide symmetrically producing two identical multipotent daughter cells [6]. Later in development they divide asymmetrically generating a self-renewing radial glial (progenitor) cell and a differentiating neuroblast [7] at the apical surface, and a basal progenitor and differentiating neuroblast at the basal surface [8, 9]. Outer radial glial cells, of the SVZ and beyond, act as a guide for the migration of newly formed neurons, which then is critical for the formation of the cortex layer (**Figure 1**) [10].

Figure 1. Cellular organization and differentiation during early development and neurogenesis in the human brain (time in weeks). See text for a description of processes of early development and neurogenesis. Figure reproduced from [11] © 2015 Budday, Steinmann and Kuhl.

2.2 The adult human neural stem cell niche

Neural stem cells reside in two defined niches, the SVZ of the lateral ventricles and the subgranular zone (SGZ) in the hippocampal formation. They are also theorised to reside in other less well characterised regions, including the neocortex, substantia nigra, amygdala and striatum [12].

The SVZ, which has been studied extensively, has been found to consist of four distinct layers (Figure 2A) [13]. A layer of ependymal cells acts as a barrier to the cerebrospinal fluid of the ventricle (Figure 2A). A layer of sparse neuronal cell bodies intertwined with ependymal processes then line the ependymal region (Figure 2A) [13]. On top of this layer sits a ribbon of proliferative astrocyte somata (Figure 2A), which have been shown to be primary neural progenitors in rodent brains, but not yet conclusively demonstrated as such in human brains [14, 15]. The fourth layer is then a transition between the third layer and the brain parenchyma, composed of some neuronal bodies and myelin tracts (Figure 2A) [16].

Figure 2. Schematic diagrams showing the human SVZ [17] (**A**) and the human SGZ [18] (**B**). See text for an explanation of zones in the SVZ. Abbreviations: SGZ, subgranular zone, GCL, granule cell layer, ML, molecular layer. Image in (**B**) reproduced with permission **©** Nature Publishing Group. The SGZ is not as well characterised as the SVZ and is comparatively a much smaller niche (**Figure 2B**). The mammalian SGZ exists at the interface of the hilus and the granule cell layer within the hippocampus. SGZ progenitors, like the SVZ, exist as astrocyte-like cells. Radially oriented astrocytes, also referred to as type I progenitors or Type D cells (**Figure 2B** dark green), are oriented at the base of the SGZ and extend through the granule cell layer [19]. Horizontal astrocytes (**Figure 2B** purple), which have yet to be proven to act as precursor cells, also exist at the base of the SGZ, but lack the extension of radial astrocytes [20]. Radial astrocytes form type II progenitors (**Figure 2B** blue), which form tight clusters, migrate to the granule cell layer along the radial astrocytes, and differentiate to granule neurons [21].

2.3 Biological factors regulating/influencing neurogenesis in the neural stem cell niche

The neural stem cell (NSC) niche modulates a variety of biological factors to control NSC proliferation and differentiation. Both soluble and membrane bound factors of the neurogenic niches have been identified as participating in neurogenesis. Of these, the most important include epidermal growth factor (EGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) which promote NSC proliferation and β 1-integrin expression at early and late stages of neurogenesis respectively [22].

ECM molecules and basal lamina components in the SVZ interact with NSCs to maintain quiescence, induce differentiation and aid migration [23]. Heparan and chondroitin sulphate proteoglycans present EGF and bFGF to neural stem cells to regulate proliferation and differentiation [24].

Morphogens such as bone morphogenic proteins (BMPs), Wnt, Notch and Sonic Hedgehog are all critical in the regulation of adult neurogenesis [25]. While the role of BMPs in

neurogenesis is extremely complex, and has been shown to exert a plethora of effects during development and maintenance of the nervous system, generally they are associated with the inhibition of neurogenesis. BMP antagonists such as Noggin, Chordin and Follistatin and others have been shown to play a key role in the induction of neurogenesis [26, 27]. For a further in depth analysis of the control of neurogenesis by morphogenic-signalling molecules the reader is directed to the review by Choe et al [25].

Vascularization to the NSC niche occurs simultaneously alongside its growth and expansion. Vascularization is critical for the growth, development and maintenance of the CNS. A critical factor in the development of vascularization and the neurovascular niche is vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). As well as being well known for controlling angiogenesis, VEFG has also recently been shown to be a critical factor in the direct promotion of neurogenesis [28-30]. VEGF has been shown to increase migration survival [31] and enhance proliferation and differentiation [32] of neural progenitor cells.

2.4 The extracellular matrix of the Central Nervous System

The extracellular matrix (ECM) in the brain, as in other organs, plays a defining role in regulating stem cell differentiation, migration and proliferation during development [33]. The brain ECM takes on many different forms and compositions throughout neurogenesis [34].

The ECM of the CNS can be divided into three main sections (**Figure 3**). The first is the basement membrane, a layer that surrounds the endothelial cells of blood vessels, which is mainly composed of laminin, fibronectin and heparin sulphate proteoglycan. The second section consists of perineuronal nets that surround neuronal cell bodies and smaller

neurons. These nets are composed of hyaluronic acid, proteoglycans, tenascin R and link proteins [35]. The final section is the neural interstitial matrix, a dense network of ECM components furthest away from the basement membrane and perineuronal nets. The ECM polymer network itself is primarily composed of a hyaluronic acid-based backbone [36] functionalised with ECM proteins.

Figure 3. The brain extracelluar matrix is arranged in three regions; the basement membrane, perineuronal nets and a neural interstitial matrix [37]. Image reproduced with permission © Nature Publishing Group.

Brain ECM proteins such as collagens, laminins and fibronectins provide mechanical support as well as important molecular cues for cell behaviour. Laminin, when compared to fibronectin and ECM-like matrices such as poly-L-ornithine and Matrigel[™], has proven to be the most suitable 2D substrate for neural progenitor cell (NPC) migration, expansion, differentiation into neural cells and for the elongation of neurons [38]. During neurogenesis the ECM is constantly changing its morphology to modulate and guide axonal growth. Morphological changes are caused by cleavage of bonds by enzymes, particularly matrix metalloproteinases [39].

It is not only the chemical and biological cues from the extracellular environment that influence how neural stem and progenitor cells differentiate into mature neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes; it is also physical, and more specifically mechanical, cues from the ECM that can determine stem cell fate. The elastic modulus of the human brain

varies across different regions. Different moduli are typically displayed by white and grey matter regions. The mammalian white matter, which is composed of the majority of glial cells and axons, is the stiffer of the two, with an elastic modulus of 1.9 kPa [40]. The mammalian grey matter, primarily composed of neuronal cell bodies, is elastically weaker with an elastic modulus of 1.4 kPa [40]. For a comprehensive review of mechanical property values of the brain the reader is directed to the review by *Aurand et al* [41].

2.5 Replicating neural differentiation pathways in vitro

Pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) can be expanded indefinitely, can potentially give rise to any cell type in the adult body, and are inclusive of embryonic stem cells (ESCs)[42] and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs)[43, 44]. iPSCs are pluripotent stem cells produced via the genetic reprogramming of somatic cells to convert them back to a pluripotent-like state [45]. Significant work has been done to direct the differentiation of PSCs and neural stem cells to specific neural cell sub-types in vitro [46]. This has mainly been to study human neurobiology and interrogate neurological disease processes, which can be specific to certain neuronal or glial cell types, and to identify or test novel pharmacological therapeutic agents. The directed in vitro differentiation of hPSCs has been demonstrated for various neural lineages such as cortical neurons [47, 48], dopaminergic neurons [49], motor neurons [50], striatal neurons [51], and also for astrocyte and oligodendrocyte glial lineages [52]. This has been achieved by two approaches. The first is the introduction of growth factors or small molecules to hPSC culture to coax differentiation down a particular cell-type pathway (Figure 4). The second is by direct reprogramming of a somatic cell type via ectopic expression of genes that drive cells to a neural lineage fate, bypassing the pluripotent stage.

The ability to control and direct the differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells has huge potential impact for disease modelling and treatment strategies. As different neural cell types vary in their susceptibility to specific neurological diseases, patient-derived hiPSCs, and their derivative neuronal and glial lineage cells, may hold the key to accurately modelling an environment where these diseases can be studied in greater context and drug screening can identify effective therapeutics. This, coupled with the development of different types of scaffold materials in which to culture iPSC-derived neural precursor cells in a 3D format, represents a powerful technology platform for developing human neural tissue models, disease modelling and screening for new therapeutics. The majority of **examples in this review explore the use of hPSC-derived NPCs and their progeny cultured in 3D formats**.

Figure 4. Directed *in vitro* differentiation of pluripotent stem cells to different neuronal and glial cell subtypes. Induction factors highlighted in black and cellular markers highlighted in blue. Abbreviations: CNTF, ciliary neurotrophic factor; d, days of growth factor–driven differentiation; EGF, epidermal growth factor; FGF, fibroblast growth factor; FGF8, fibroblast growth factor 8; GSK3βi, glycogen synthase kinase-3β inhibitor; iPSC, induced pluripotent stem cell; RA, retinoic acid; SHH, sonic hedgehog; SMAD, intracellular proteins that transduce extracellular signals from TGFβ signaling; WNT, family of Wnt signaling pathways; WNTi, inhibitors of Wnt signaling pathways. [46]. Image re-used with permission © Annual Reviews.

3. Scaffolds for 3D in vitro NPC culture

Depending on the end application, numerous matrix materials have been used to support 3D cell culture. These include synthetic polymers, natural polymers, natural-synthetic hybrids, metals, ceramics, glass and carbon nanotubes. Synthetic polymers are preferred due to the ability to control their physical and chemical properties, but they lack the biological activity of natural polymers [53]. The format and manufacturing technique for different types of scaffolds varies depending on application. Some scaffold formats include polymer gels, solid porous scaffolds, fibrous scaffolds, and acellular scaffolds (**Figure 5**) [54, 55]. A comprehensive summary table of scaffold formats and materials used for 3D NPC and NPC-derivative cell culture is provided (**Table 1**).

Figure 5. Tissue engineering scaffold types and synthesis techniques. A) Hydrogel scaffolds formed via the crosslinking of polymers or macromers. B) Solid porous scaffolds formed via phase separation technique. C) Fibrous scaffolds formed via the electrospinning process [56]. Image reused with permission © John Wiley & Sons.

 Table 1. A comprehensive summary of 3D scaffold formats and materials used for the culture and differentiation of neural stem and progenitor cells.

Scaffold Material	Cell Culture	Scope/Purpose	Reference	
HYDROGELS: Natural Materials				
Type-I Collagen	Rat cortical neural precursor cells	Expansion and differentiation of NPCs to neurons and astrocytes in 3D	O'Connor SM, Stenger DA, Shaffer KM, Maric D, Barker JL, Ma W. Primary neural precursor cell expansion, differentiation and cytosolic Ca2+ response in three- dimensional collagen gel. Journal of Neuroscience	

			Methods 2000;102:187-95.
Type-I Collagen	Embryonic rat neural stem and progenitor cells	The first example of functional synapse and neuronal network formation in a 3D matrix	Ma W, Fitzgerald W, Liu QY, O'Shaughnessy TJ, Maric D, Lin HJ, et al. CNS stem and progenitor cell differentiation into functional neuronal circuits in three-dimensional collagen gels. Experimental Neurology 2004;190:276-88. [58]
Type-I Collagen	Embryonic rat neural stem cells and neural progenitor cells	Combined with a bioreactor system, scaffolds yield structures that are bigger with less necrosis	Lin HJ, O'Shaughnessy TJ, Kelly J, Ma W. Neural stem cell differentiation in a cell– collagen–bioreactor culture system. Developmental Brain Research 2004;153:163-73. [59]
Type-I Collagen	Embryonic rat neural stem and progenitor cells	When combined with a rotary wall bioreactor, structures had less necrosis and formed layered structures	Ma W, Chen S, Fitzgerald W, Maric D, Lin HJ, O'Shaughnessy TJ, et al. Three-Dimensional Collagen Gel Networks for Neural Stem Cell-Based Neural Tissue Engineering. Macromolecular Symposia 2005;227:327-34. [60]
Calcium-alginate	Mouse hippocampal neural stem cells	The calcium-alginate beads allowed for culture of large numbers of NSCs with high recovery rate	Li X, Liu T, Song K, Yao L, Ge D, Bao C, et al. Culture of neural stem cells in calcium alginate beads. Biotechnology progress 2006;22:1683-9. [61]
Type-1 Collagen/hyaluronan composite	Culture and differentiation of embryonic and adult mouse neural stem/progenitor cells (NS/PCs)	Enhanced the physiological relevance of NS/PC culture and differentiation compared to 2D	Brännvall K, Bergman K, Wallenquist U, Svahn S, Bowden T, Hilborn J, et al. Enhanced neuronal differentiation in a three- dimensional collagen- hyaluronan matrix. Journal of Neuroscience Research 2007;85:2138-46. [62]
Hyaluronic acid	Ventral midbrain mouse neural stem cells	Stiffer hydrogels cause mostly astrocyte differentiation and softer hydrogels neuronal differentiation	Seidlits SK, Khaing ZZ, Petersen RR, Nickels JD, Vanscoy JE, Shear JB, et al. The effects of hyaluronic acid hydrogels with tunable mechanical properties on neural progenitor cell differentiation. Biomaterials 2010;31:3930-40. [63]
Type-I Collagen	Human neural progenitor- derived astrocytes	Studying axon growth promoting effects in 3D on dorsal root ganglion	Führmann T, Hillen LM, Montzka K, Wöltje M, Brook GA. Cell–Cell interactions of human neural progenitor- derived astrocytes within a microstructured 3D-scaffold. Biomaterials 2010;31:7705-15. [64]
Type-I Collagen	Culture and differentiation of rat NS/PCs to neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes	Applications as animal surrogates for drug discovery and toxicity testing	Ge D, Song K, Guan S, Qi Y, Guan B, Li W, et al. Culture and Differentiation of Rat Neural Stem/Progenitor Cells in a Three-Dimensional Collagen Scaffold. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology 2013;170:406-19. [65]
Hyaluronic acid-catechol	Human neural stem cells	Hydrogel displayed pH- dependent adhesive/cohesive properties for neural tissue engineering	Hong S, Yang K, Kang B, Lee C, Song IT, Byun E, et al. Hyaluronic Acid Catechol: A Biopolymer Exhibiting a pH- Dependent Adhesive or Cohesive Property for Human Neural Stem Cell Engineering.

			Advanced Functional Materials 2013;23:1774-80. [66]
Alginate	ReNcell VM human neural progenitor cells	A high throughput microarray platform for the growth, differentiation and toxicological study of NPCs	Meli L, Barbosa HSC, Hickey AM, Gasimli L, Nierode G, Diogo MM, et al. Three dimensional cellular microarray platform for human neural stem cell differentiation and toxicology. Stem Cell Research 2014;13:36-47. [67]
Type-I Collagen	Primary embryonic rat progenitor cells spheroids	Study of the proliferation and differentiation of corpus striatum progenitors in 3D	Cruz Gaitán AM, Torres-Ruíz NM, Carri NG. Embryonic neural stem cells in a 3D bioassay for trophic stimulation studies. Brain Research Bulletin 2015;115:37- 44. [68]
Matrigel	ReNcell VM human neural progenitor cells	A 3D Alzheimer's disease model that exhibits key events in pathogenesis	Kim YH, Choi SH, D'Avanzo C, Hebisch M, Sliwinski C, Bylykbashi E, et al. A 3D human neural cell culture system for modeling Alzheimer's disease. Nat Protocols 2015;10:985- 1006. [69]
Type-I Collagen	Embryonic murine neural stem cells	Investigates the sensitivity of NSCs in 3D to heavy metals	Tasneem S, Farrell K, Lee M-Y, Kothapalli CR. Sensitivity of neural stem cell survival, differentiation and neurite outgrowth within 3D hydrogels to environmental heavy metals. Toxicology Letters 2016;242:9-22. [70]
	HYDROGELS: Syr	nthetic Materials	
Poly(lactide- <i>co</i> -glycide) microspheres loaded in alginate hydrogel	Adult rat neural progenitor cells	NPCs can be cultured and expanded in this system and showed increased expansion in the degradable alginate compared to non-degradable systems	Ashton RS, Banerjee A, Punyani S, Schaffer DV, Kane RS. Scaffolds based on degradable alginate hydrogels and poly (lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres for stem cell culture. Biomaterials 2007;28:5518-25. [71]
IKVAV-incorporated RADA16 self-assembling peptide	Primary mouse neural stem cells	Self-assembling scaffold for neural tissue engineering applications	Zhang ZX, Zheng QX, Wu YC, Hao DJ. Compatibility of neural stem cells with functionalized self-assembling peptide scaffold in vitro. Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering 2010;15:545-51. [72]
Laminin-functionalised PuraMatrix	ReNcell VM human neural progenitor cells	Optimization of a 3D-scaffold NPC culture and differentiation protocol	Ortinau S, Schmich J, Block S, Liedmann A, Jonas L, Weiss DG, et al. Effect of 3D-scaffold formation on differentiation and survival in human neural progenitor cells. BioMedical Engineering OnLine 2010;9:70. [73]
$C_{16}H_{31}O-A_3G_4D_2$ IKVAV self- assembling peptide	Rat neural progenitor cells	A self-assembling peptide hydrogel for the encapsulation and differentiation of NPCs	Song Y, Li Y, Zheng Q, Wu K, Guo X, Wu Y, et al. Neural Progenitor Cells Survival and Neuronal Differentiation in Peptide-Based Hydrogels. Journal of Biomaterials Science, Polymer Edition 2011;22:475-87. [74]
Methacrylamide chitosan	Adult rat neural progenitor/stem cells	Macroporosity was shown to effectively promote NS/PC 3D differentiation	Li H, Wijekoon A, Leipzig ND. 3D differentiation of neural stem cells in macroporous photopolymerizable hydrogel scaffolds. PLoS One 2012;7:e48824. [75]

IKVAV-RADA16 self-assembling peptide	Rat neural stem cells	The IKVAV-functionalised peptide was shown both <i>In</i> <i>vivo</i> and <i>in vitro</i> to support the NSC growth and differentiation	Cheng T-Y, Chen M-H, Chang W-H, Huang M-Y, Wang T-W. Neural stem cells encapsulated in a functionalized self- assembling peptide hydrogel for brain tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2013;34:2005-16. [76]
Flourinated methacrylamide chitosan	Adult rat neural stem progenitor cells	The material enhanced oxygen exchange and neuronal differentiation when compared to the unflourinated material	Li H, Wijekoon A, Leipzig ND. Encapsulated Neural Stem Cell Neuronal Differentiation in Fluorinated Methacrylamide Chitosan Hydrogels. Ann Biomed Eng 2014;42:1456-69. [77]
Polyurethane	Adult mouse neural stem cells	Thermoresponsive biodegradable polyurethane bioink was used to print NSCs	Hsieh F-Y, Lin H-H, Hsu S-h. 3D bioprinting of neural stem cell- laden thermoresponsive biodegradable polyurethane hydrogel and potential in central nervous system repair. Biomaterials 2015;71:48-57. [78]
IKVAV/RGD functionalised RADA16-I self- assembling peptide	Embryonic rat neural progenitor and neural stem cells	A new self-assembling peptide with a more permissive environment for nerve regeneration	Sun Y, Li W, Wu X, Zhang N, Zhang Y, Ouyang S, et al. Functional Self-Assembling Peptide Nanofiber Hydrogels Designed for Nerve Degeneration. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 2016;8:2348-59. [79]
Methacrylate-modified hyaluronic acid	Human iPSC-derived NPCs	Layered hydrogel of different modulus influences migration and differentiation	Zhang Z-N, Freitas BC, Qian H, Lux J, Acab A, Trujillo CA, et al. Layered hydrogels accelerate iPSC-derived neuronal maturation and reveal migration defects caused by MeCP2 dysfunction. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2016;113:3185-90. [80]
RGD-functionalised strain- promoted azide-alkyne cycloaddition (SPAAC) covalently crosslinked elastin- like protein (ELP) gel	Murine neural progenitor cells	A versatile hydrogel capable of functionalization via crosslinking useful in bioprinting applications	Madl CM, Katz LM, Heilshorn SC. Bio-Orthogonally Crosslinked, Engineered Protein Hydrogels with Tunable Mechanics and Biochemistry for Cell Encapsulation. Advanced Functional Materials 2016;26:3612-20. [81]
PuraMatrix	Adult rat neural stem/progenitor cells	When compared, surface plating and injection culture methods gave better expansion and differentiation than an encapsulation method	Aligholi H, Rezayat SM, Azari H, Ejtemaei Mehr S, Akbari M, Modarres Mousavi SM, et al. Preparing neural stem/progenitor cells in PuraMatrix hydrogel for transplantation after brain injury in rats: A comparative methodological study. Brain Research 2016;1642:197-208. [82]
	SOILD POROL	JS SCAFFOLDS	
Porous poly(lactic- <i>co</i> -glycolic acid)/Polylysine	Murine neural stem cells	Scattolds were implanted with NSCs and used to mouse repair spinal cord	I eng YD, Lavik EB, Qu X, Park KI, Ourednik J, Zurakowski D, et al. Functional recovery following traumatic spinal cord injury mediated by a unique polymer scaffold seeded with neural stem cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of

			Sciences 2002;99:3024-9. [83]
Poly(lactic- <i>co</i> -glycolic acid) porous polymer	Embryonic rat neural stem cells	Biodegradable scaffolds with aligned pores demonstrate ability to act as platforms for axonal regeneration	Olson HE, Rooney GE, Gross L, Nesbitt JJ, Galvin KE, Knight A, et al. Neural stem cell–and Schwann cell–loaded biodegradable polymer scaffolds support axonal regeneration in the transected spinal cord. Tissue Engineering Part A 2009;15:1797-805. [84]
Porous polystyrene	Human neural progenitor cells	Identification of 13 cytokines upregulated when cells are cultured in 3D compared to 2D	Lai Y, Asthana A, Cheng K, Kisaalita WS. Neural cell 3D microtissue formation is marked by cytokines' up- regulation. PloS one 2011;6:e26821. [85]
Porous polystyrene	Human neural progenitor cells	A new 3D scaffold for the culture of active NPCs	Lai Y, Kisaalita WS. Performance Evaluation of 3D Polystyrene 96-Well Plates with Human Neural Stem Cells in a Calcium Assay. Journal of Laboratory Automation 2012;17:284-92. [86]
Graphene foam	Adult mouse hippocampal NSCs	Conductive graphene foams gave good electrical stimulation of differentiated NSCs	Li N, Zhang Q, Gao S, Song Q, Huang R, Wang L, et al. Three- dimensional graphene foam as a biocompatible and conductive scaffold for neural stem cells. Scientific reports 2013;3. [87]
Multi-walled carbon nanotube functionalised porous chondroitin sulphate	Embryonic rat neural progenitor cells	Shows the formations of active neuronal cell cultures	Serrano MC, Nardecchia S, García-Rama C, Ferrer ML, Collazos-Castro JE, del Monte F, et al. Chondroitin sulphate- based 3D scaffolds containing MWCNTs for nervous tissue repair. Biomaterials 2014;35:1543-51. [88]
Alvetex porous polystyrene	Human neural stem cells	Identification of specific miRNA implicated in hNSC differentiation	Stevanato L, Sinden JD. The effects of microRNAs on human neural stem cell differentiation in two- and three-dimensional cultures. Stem Cell Research & Therapy 2014;5:49. [89]
Silk	Human neural progenitor cells	Enhanced cell viability and proliferation over 14 days showing potential for tissue engineering purposes	Subia B, Rao RR, Kundu SC. Silk 3D matrices incorporating human neural progenitor cells for neural tissue engineering applications. Polymer Journal 2015.[90]
	FIBROUS S	SCAFFOLDS	
Polyglycolic acid microfibres	Murine neural stem cells	NSCs were seeded onto the polymer scaffold and implanted into injured mouse brains	Park KI, Teng YD, Snyder EY. The injured brain interacts reciprocally with neural stem cells supported by scaffolds to reconstitute lost tissue. Nature Biotechnology 2002;20:1111-7. [91]
Poly(L-lactic acid) nanofibres	Neonatal mouse cerebellum stem cells	NSCs differentiated and fibres acted as positive cues for neurite out-growth	Yang F, Murugan R, Ramakrishna S, Wang X, Ma Y- X, Wang S. Fabrication of nano- structured porous PLLA scaffold intended for nerve tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2004;25:1891- 900. [92]
Self-assembled IKVAV functionalised peptide nanofibres	Murine neural progenitor cells	A high density of IKVAV functionalisation induced rapid neuronal differentiation	Silva GA, Czeisler C, Niece KL, Beniash E, Harrington DA, Kessler JA, et al. Selective

			Differentiation of Neural Progenitor Cells by High- Epitope Density Nanofibers. Science 2004;303:1352-5. [93]
Poly(L-lactic acid) nanofibres	Mouse cerebellum neural stem cells	Scaffold promotes NSC adhesion and supports differentiation and neurite outgrowth	Yang F, Xu C, Kotaki M, Wang S, Ramakrishna S. Characterization of neural stem cells on electrospun poly (L-lactic acid) nanofibrous scaffold. Journal of Biomaterials Science, Polymer Edition 2004;15:1483-97. [94]
Functionalised RADA16 self- assembling peptide	Adult mouse neural stem cells	The intrinsically defined scaffold gave similar NSC culture results to Matrigel	Gelain F, Bottai D, Vescovi A, Zhang S. Designer Self- Assembling Peptide Nanofiber Scaffolds for Adult Mouse Neural Stem Cell 3- Dimensional Cultures. PLOS ONE 2006;1:e119. [95]
Poly(ɛ-caprolactone) nanofibres	Rat brain-derived neural stem cells	Ethylenediamine functionalisation increased NSC cell adhesion	Nisbet DR, Yu LMY, Zahir T, Forsythe JS, Shoichet MS. Characterization of neural stem cells on electrospun poly(ɛ-caprolactone) submicron scaffolds: evaluating their potential in neural tissue engineering. Journal of Biomaterials Science, Polymer Edition 2008;19:623-34. [96]
BDNF-immobilized poly- ε- caprolactone nanofibres	Mouse neural stem cells	BDNF-functionalised nanofibers supports NSCs and their derivatives	Horne MK, Nisbet DR, Forsythe JS, Parish CL. Three- dimensional nanofibrous scaffolds incorporating immobilized BDNF promote proliferation and differentiation of cortical neural stem cells. Stem cells and development 2009;19:843-52. [97]
Polyhydroxylalkanoate nanofibres	Rat-derived neural stem cells	3D nanofibers display suitability for NSC attachment, synaptic outgrowth and synaptogenesis	Xu X-Y, Li X-T, Peng S-W, Xiao J- F, Liu C, Fang G, et al. The behaviour of neural stem cells on polyhydroxyalkanoate nanofiber scaffolds. Biomaterials 2010;31:3967-75. [98]
RGD and bone marrow homing peptide functionalised self- assembling peptide	Adult mouse neural stem cells	NSCs are viable, proliferate and differentiate on the material	Cunha C, Panseri S, Villa O, Silva D, Gelain F. 3D culture of adult mouse neural stem cells within functionalized self- assembling peptide scaffolds. Int J Nanomedicine 2011;6:943-55. [99]
Chitin-alginate microfibres	Human iPSCs and derived hNPCs and neurons	A platform for the generation of large number of targeted differentiated neural cells	Lu HF, Lim S-X, Leong MF, Narayanan K, Toh RPK, Gao S, et al. Efficient neuronal differentiation and maturation of human pluripotent stem cells encapsulated in 3D microfibrous scaffolds. Biomaterials 2012;33:9179-87. [100]
Poly-ɛ-caprolactone microfibers coated in BDNF immobilized polyelectrolyte multilayers	ESC-derived mouse neural progenitor cells	A biofunctionalised complex 3D scaffold for 3D neural cell culture	Zhou K, Thouas G, Bernard C, Forsythe JS. 3D presentation of a neurotrophic factor for the regulation of neural progenitor cells. Nanomedicine 2013;9:1239-51. [101]
	ACELLULAR	SCAFFOLDS	

Genepin crosslinked acellular rat brain matrix	Rat adult neural stem cells	Scaffolds showed high cytocompatibility and suitability as tissue engineering scaffolds for CNS tissue	He H, Li W, Su J, Wang H, Ye Z, Cai M, et al. In Vitro Evaluation of the Cytocompatibility of an Acellular Rat Brain Matrix Scaffold with Neural Stem Cells. Journal of Biomaterials and Tissue Engineering 2015;5:628-34. [102]
	MICROFLUIDIC DEVICES AN	ID LAB ON A CHIP SYSTEMS	
Matrigel microfluidic gradient generator	Human neural progenitor cells	Exponential FGF gradients were shown to be useful in generating asymmetrical neuronal cultures	Keenan TM, Grinager JR, Procak AA, Svendsen CN. In vitro localization of human neural stem cell neurogenesis by engineered FGF-2 gradients. Integrative Biology 2012;4:1522-31. [103]
Series of microchannels for nutrient diffusion	Immortalized mouse neural progenitor cells	The device controlled medium diffusion and prevented spontaneous differentiation caused by lack of nutrients	Wang B, Jedlicka S, Cheng X. Maintenance and Neuronal Cell Differentiation of Neural Stem Cells C17.2 Correlated to Medium Availability Sets Design Criteria in Microfluidic Systems. PLoS ONE 2014;9:e109815. [104]
Glass microtubes	Mouse neural stem cells	To study the influence of scaffolds dimensionality and confinement of NSC migration	Koch B, Meyer AK, Helbig L, Harazim SM, Storch A, Sanchez S, et al. Dimensionality of Rolled-up Nanomembranes Controls Neural Stem Cell Migration Mechanism. Nano Letters 2015;15:5530-8. [105]
Collagen multichannel device	Human foetal neural stem cells	The device mimics paracrine signalling in the body to study effects on NSC behaviour	Yang K, Park H-J, Han S, Lee J, Ko E, Kim J, et al. Recapitulation of in vivo-like paracrine signals of human mesenchymal stem cells for functional neuronal differentiation of human neural stem cells in a 3D microfluidic system. Biomaterials 2015;63:177-88. [106]
Poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogel microfluidic device	Human ESC-derived neural progenitor cells and other brain cell types	A self-assembled 3D neural construct capable of accurately predicting neural toxicity	Schwartz MP, Hou Z, Propson NE, Zhang J, Engstrom CJ, Costa VS, et al. Human pluripotent stem cell-derived neural constructs for predicting neural toxicity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2015;112:12516-21. [107]
Poly(ε-caprolactone) microfibrous microfluidic channel	Rat adult hippocampal stem/progenitor cells	The scaffold supported the adhesion, survival and differentiation of NS/PCs and importantly allowed cell alignment important for reconnecting nerves	Sharifi F, Patel BB, Dzuilko AK, Montazami R, Sakaguchi DS, Hashemi N. Polycaprolactone Microfibrous Scaffolds to Navigate Neural Stem Cells. Biomacromolecules 2016;17:3287-97. [108]

3.1 Hydrogel Scaffolds

Hydrogels are used as tissue engineering scaffolds typically because their soft, hydrated form resembles that of naturally occurring living tissue. Hydrogels are 3D hydrated polymer

networks, held together by chemical and/or physical crosslinks, in a dispersant, typically water. The mechanical properties of hydrogels can be tuned in some cases to resemble a range of soft tissues [109]. The high water content and highly porous nature of hydrogels allow for facile transport of oxygen, nutrients and waste as well as effective transport of soluble factors [110]. An additional attraction of hydrogels is their ability to be administered via injection [111]. After injection, they can conform to the available space, allowing for uniform tissue regeneration. However, hydrogels have to be maintained in a hydrated state, therefore could possibly suffer from long term stability issues *in vitro* [112]. Also, densely crosslinked gels can inhibit the natural migration of cells [113].

Hydrogels can easily be made to mimic the mechanical properties of the CNS. The natural brain ECM is primarily composed of a hyaluronic acid-based hydrogel [36], functionalised with a myriad of biomolecules including laminins, fibronectin, collagens, vitronectin, tenacins and nidogens [10]. Hydrogels obviously therefore provide an excellent scaffold material for neural tissue engineering.

3.1.1 Natural polymer hydrogels

Natural hydrogels of macromolecules such as collagen, gelatin, laminin, alginate and hyaluronic acid possess biological properties, such as bioactive motifs and cell binding domains for cell-matrix interactions, which can be critical for the maintenance of natural tissue phenotype and function. A readily used example of a naturally derived mixture of ECM components is Matrigel[™], an undefined and variable hydrogel mixture of ECM proteins. While natural hydrogels can retain their biological function *in vitro*, they do suffer from batch-to-batch variability, can have poorly defined compositions and are difficult to

modify biochemically [114, 115]. Natural hydrogels can be limited in their clinical application due to the risk of immune rejection and disease transfer [114]. While natural hydrogels often do not display the ideal set of characteristics for neural tissue engineering, and, unlike synthetic materials, cannot be designed from the bottom up, they are often modified to make them applicable as accurate 3D neural cell culture models.

Collagen type-I is by far the most popular natural hydrogel material, with numerous publications citing its use as a scaffold for neural cell culture [57-60, 62, 65, 116-120]. Some other interesting examples of natural hydrogels used for neural tissue engineering include chitosan/gelatin hybrid hydrogels. These novel composite hydrogels were shown to enhance neural stem and progenitor cell adhesion and long term expansion, as well as differentiation to neuronal and glial cells [121]. Cylindrical collagen channels have been used to mimic the stem cell niche migratory pathway of the CNS. Collagen hydrogel tubes of 180 µm were used as scaffolds to create aligned astrocyte bundles (Figure 6), which were demonstrated to direct the alignment of neurites, mimicking the glial tubes that direct the migration on NPCs in vivo [122]. These aligned bundles could have potential applications for directing cells to sites of neurodegeneration in the brain. A recent exciting class of natural hydrogels used for neural tissue engineering are gellan gums. Gellan is a highly versatile backbone material amenable to various physical and chemical functionalisation [123]. RGDfunctionalised gellan gums have recently been 3D-printed in layers to mimic the human cortex [124]. Alternating cellular and acellular layers were composed to encourage cells to migrate between layers and form structures similar to that of the cortex (Figure 7.B). Cell viability was demonstrated after 5 days and some migration was observed (Figure 7.C) [124]. **Figure 6**. 0.1 mg/ml Collagen I cylinders support astrocyte bundle formation. Collagen I (green), glial cell marker GFAP (red) and Hoechst nuclear counterstain (blue) [122]. Scale bars 100 μm. Reproduced with permission © Elsevier.

Figure 7. 3D-printed layered RGD-functionalised gellan gum structures for neural tissue engineering. **A**. A 3D graphics representation of a six-layered structure. **B**. A three-layered gellan gum construct (dyes indicating different layers). **C**. β -III Tubulin immunostaining of murine cortical neurons in layers 1 and 3 migrating into the acellular layer 2 (colour represents migration in the z-direction) [124]. Reproduced with permission © Elsevier.

Some of the most recent remarkable examples of neural tissue engineering have come from the culture of neural cells using naturally derived hydrogels. Self-organized neural structures that resemble those present in an early developing brain (**Figure 8**), termed cerebral organoids, were created using Matrigel[™] scaffolds and a spinning bioreactor. Neurospheres were derived from hiPSCs, then placed in Matrigel[™] droplets. The droplets were then placed in a spinning bioreactor to yield an incredibly well-defined developing cortical-like structure [125]. This system has further been developed with the use of defined hydrogel scaffolds using hyaluronic acid-based materials as well as a defined culture medium [126]. Whilst organoid cultures can produce remarkable brain-like structures, they can suffer from hypoxia and areas of necrosis due to high cell density and lack of vasculature [112].

Figure 8. Matrigel[™] cultured cerebral organoid cortical tissue shows layering similar to the ventricular zone in natural tissue [127]. Neurons shown in green (TUJ1) and radial glial stem cells (RGs) in red (PAX6). Arrowheads indicate PAX6 positive RGs outside the ventricular zone. Image re-used with permission © Nature Publishing Group.

3.1.2 Synthetic polymer hydrogels

Synthetic hydrogels are made from polymers such as poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG), poly(vinyl alcohol), poly(lactic acid) (PLA) and poly(hydroxyethyl methacrylate) (PHEMA) to name a few [128]. Synthetic hydrogels are able to be synthesised with controlled physical (elasticity and degradability) and chemical (surface functionalisation) properties to tailor the material to specific applications. They are typically highly reproducible and simple to manufacture.

Synthetic hydrogel scaffolds typically have two important features. Firstly, they are usually inert, but biodegradable. As cells grow, the scaffold degrades, making way for the cells to synthesise their own ECM and create their own scaffold [129, 130]. Secondly, they can contain immobilised biological components to better encourage natural cell-matrix interactions. PLA-PEG-dimethacrylate triblock macromer has been used to synthesise a degradable hydrogel for neural tissue engineering. By manipulating the degradation rate of the scaffold, embryonic rat forebrain cells were able to produce their own ECM at a rate similar to the degradation rate of the scaffold [130]. More recent examples of neural tissue engineering use 'smart' synthetic hydrogels and both primary and PSC-derived NSCs to generate neural tissue. Thermoresponsvie polyurethane hydrogels laden with primary adult mouse brain NSCs have been 3D printed, and shown to restore brain function in zebrafish with traumatic brain injury [78]. Self-assembling peptide hydrogels possess a fibrous

structure, similar to the native ECM. RADA₁₆-IKVAV functionalised peptide has been shown to self-assemble into nanofibrous hydrogel scaffolds, enhancing the survival of encapsulated primary rat NSCs and reducing the formation of glial cells [76]. Self-assembling peptides have also been shown to undergo gelation at physiological temperatures, making them ideal scaffolds for injectable applications [131].

3.2 Solid porous scaffolds

While hydrogels provide excellent scaffolds that mimic the natural ECM, they are limited in scale-up because of long term storage issues, stability and batch-to-batch variability. Highly porous solid scaffolds can be manufactured in a controlled and reproducible fashion, can be appropriately moulded, are inert in structure and have long term stability [132]. The mechanical stability of these scaffolds, along with their high porosity and pore interconnectivity make them ideal for highly interactive 3D cell cultures [55]. Porous scaffolds theoretically have some other key advantages. The high porosity of these scaffolds allows for deeper and more uniform nutrient transport and also allows cells to freely migrate throughout the structure without much resistance. The pores themselves can also limit the size of colonies, which when too large can cause cells to become necrotic [55]. The mechanical stability of solid porous scaffolds make them a more practical material for handling, which is difficult with soft hydrogels [112]. The key limitations of solid scaffolds however are, firstly, they are typically opaque and have poor light transmission properties, making in situ imaging difficult [133]. Secondly, recovering cells from the scaffold for analysis can be a difficult and tedious process [134]. Third, the Young's modulus of many

solid porous scaffolds is quite different to that of CNS tissue (0.1-16 kPa)[33] and so these scaffolds may not provide realistic tissue and disease models.

An array of techniques have been used to synthesise solid porous scaffolds, including salt leaching [135], phase separation [136], freeze drying [116], gas foaming [137], emulsion templating [138] and 3D printing [139]. The emulsion templating process has been shown to give good control over porosity, pore size and pore interconnect size, making it possible to produce highly porous structures with porosity up to around 90% [138]. When combined with 'click-chemistry' reactions and photocuring the preparation time of these porous polymer sponges is very short compared to other cell culture scaffolds [140], and can be used to polymerise emulsions of low stability.

Solid porous scaffolds produced by the salt leaching process were shown to be able to culture primary mice neuronal cells with characteristics more akin to the *in vivo* environment when compared to 2D culture. Voltage gated calcium channel functionality, which is known to be exaggerated in 2D cultures, was shown to decrease (compared to 2D) and behave more like that of *in vivo* tissue when cultured on solid porous poly-l-lactic acid scaffolds [141].

3D porous silk sponges are a recently discovered tissue engineering biomaterial that can be used in a range of formats including films, gels, sponges and mats [142]. Recently, silk sponges have been used in the 3D culture of primary rat cortical neurons. Carefully constructed silk-collagen composites have been used to create functional brain-like cortical tissue [143]. The compartmentalised structure of the silk-collagen scaffold (**Figure 9**) allows for spatial separation of neuronal cell bodies and neural projections, resemblant of the layered structure of the cerebral cortex, and grey and white matter [144].

Figure 9. Silk sponges of diameter 12 mm are constructed with 2 mm collagen centres (left) [143]. The composite, when cultured with primary rat hippocampus neurons, resembles structures similar to the white and grey matter of the brain (right) [143]. Images reused with permission © National Academy of Science.

3.3 Fibrous scaffolds

Fibrous scaffolds, and particularly nanofibrous scaffolds, hold great promise as tissue engineering scaffolds as their topography most resembles that of natural human ECM [145]. A range of techniques exist for the synthesis of nanofibers, including electrospinning, selfassembly, template synthesis and phase separation [146, 147]. Desirable properties of fibrous scaffolds include a high surface area-to-volume ratio and high porosity [146]. Fibrous scaffolds have been used in a range of tissue engineering applications including bone, cartilage, ligament, skeletal muscle, skin and many others. Like hydrogels, a range of both natural and synthetic polymers have been explored for use as fibrous scaffolds. Electrospun fibrous scaffolds typically do not allow infiltration of cells deep into the scaffold, mainly due to the fibre diameter [148, 149]. Recent research has focussed on reducing the fibre diameter to achieve better cell infiltration, to give 3D, and not 2D, cell growth, which has been the case for electrospun fibrous scaffolds previously [56].

Electrospun PLA fibrous scaffolds coated in electrically conductive polymers have been used for 3D neural progenitor cell culture. The scaffold was shown to support the attachment and migration of rat hippocampal neural progenitors, indicating biocompatibility [150]. Another example involved the culture of rat brain-derived NSCs on electrospun poly(ε-caprolactone)

scaffolds. Fibre surfaces were modified with an ethylenediamine coating, resulting in increased cell adherence [96]. Electrospun gelatin scaffolds were coated with decellularized rat brain ECM. The coating, which contains molecules such as glycosaminoglycans, collagen, laminin and fibronectin, was shown to induce the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells to neural/glial precursor cells [151].

3.4 Acellular Scaffolds

Acellular tissue engineering scaffolds are typically prepared by removing the cellular components of a tissue or whole organ via chemical, biological or mechanical means, to produce a material that is predominantly natural ECM [152]. Upon tissue culture or implantation the acellular scaffold typically degrades, making way for the natural ECM secreted by ingrowing cells [55]. Acellular scaffolds have advantages over other tissue engineering scaffolds: they have similar if not the same chemical and biological composition as natural ECM; they retain native ECM architecture and mechanical properties; and considerably reduce immunological complications associated with whole tissue transplants. Products incorporating acellular scaffolds including heart valves, small intestine submucosa and urinary bladder matrix have all been approved for human medical use [153]. However, as acellular scaffolds are typically allogenic or xenogeneic, there is potential for immune rejection for implanted scaffolds [154].

Porcine brain tissue was successfully decellularized using sodium dodecyl sulphate detergent. The ECM was digested and turned into a liquid, and used as a cell culture coating for the culture of human iPSC-derived neurons. When compared with Matrigel[™] coating, the brain matrix coating was shown to enhance primary and secondary dendrite formation

as well as increase synapsin expression, a marker of synapse formation. The digested liquid ECM material was also shown to self-assemble, forming a gel upon injection, indicating suitability as a tissue engineering scaffold for injection [155]. However, due to the animal origin of the material, clinical implementation could be difficult to achieve.

3.5 Microfluidic Devices/Lab-on-a-chip systems

Most tissue engineering models suffer from one important drawback, an inability to incorporate vascularization. This introduces a drastic disparity between tissue engineered models and *in vivo* tissue in terms of access to nutrients and waste diffusion channels. Microfluidic systems have the potential to address such issues with the introduction of small channels which introduce fluid flow, nutrient/waste gradients, medium perfusion and subsequent shear stress to otherwise static tissue culture systems [156]. Microfluidic devices also offer the aspect of spatial control of cells. This can be done with the use of membranes to separate or segregate cells or, more recently, hydrogels for three dimensional spatial control.

A microfluidic device has been developed to prevent the spontaneous differentiation of NSCs, which can occur when the cells are provided with limited nutrients. The device, through a series of microchannels, supplies medium to the cells in a specifically controlled manner. The device was shown to harbour cultures of minimum spontaneous differentiation when compared with control experiments [104]. Other microfluidic devices have been engineered to investigate the influence of paracrine signalling on hNSC differentiation as seen in the brain. hNSCs confined in a 3D channel of collagen were flanked by channels of GDNF-overexpressing hMSCs, with signalling molecules able to diffuse

between the channels (**Figure 10**). The system yielded reduced glial differentiation and enhanced neuronal differentiation of hNSCs [106].

Figure 10. A microfluidic device specifically designed to mimic paracrine signalling that naturally occurs in the brain [106]. Reproduced with permission © Elsevier.

Even more sophisticated systems have been developed in an attempt to mimic parts, regions and functions of the brain, in what are being called 'brain-on-a-chip' models. These models have the potential to be used to screen therapeutic agents, predict toxicity or study neurodevelopmental processes. Examples include models of functional blood-brain-barriers [157, 158], neuromuscular junctions [159] and neuronal circuitry. A recent interesting example involved the construction of a device to study the migratory patterns of hNPCs, which are important for understanding chemotaxis in the brain. Gradients of the chemokine CXCL12 were constructed to measure chemotactic response, and results revealed that a shallow chemotactic gradient best enhances hNPC chemotaxis [160]. Another recent brainon-a-chip example involved prediction of neural toxicity. A 3D co-culture of NPCs, mesenchymal stem cells, endothelial cells and microglia/macrophage precursors in a functionalised, degradable PEG hydrogel reportedly assembled into a 3D neural construct of neurons, glia and an interconnected vascular network. The construct was then used to screen toxic and non-toxic compounds with an impressive 90% prediction success rate in a blinded trial [107].

4. Scaffold modifications to support neural lineage differentiation

Modifications can be made to tissue engineering scaffolds to increase their physiological relevance and provide a more favourable environment for tissue growth. Modifications of tissue engineering scaffolds can be broken down into three different categories: morphological and topographical; chemical and biological functionalization; and mechanical. Morphological changes such as topographical modifications include introducing roughness, grooves and patterns to scaffold surfaces. Scaffolds can be chemically modified to alter surface energy, induce surface charge, create reactive functional groups or reduce cell adhesion. Biological modifications can be made by attaching ECM proteins, peptide sequences, growth factors and other biomolecules that aid cell function. Finally mechanical properties can be manipulated to influence the attachment, differentiation and migration of certain cell types.

4.1 Topography and morphology

Directed cell growth and migration is fundamental for the development and repair of tissue. Consequently, directed growth of neurites is required for the regeneration of neural tissue in both central and peripheral nervous systems. By altering surface morphology and topography it has been demonstrated that it is possible to guide the growth and migration of neurites.

Topographical cues such as grooves, ridges, pores and nodes can influence cell adhesion, migration, proliferation and differentiation [147]. The most heavily investigated surface morphology for neural cell guidance and migration are ridged/grooved surfaces. These surfaces are intended to guide axonal outgrowth of neurons for spinal cord regeneration.

Grooves of varying width and depth on a variety of different surfaces have been shown to induce alignment of neurons in certain directions and induce outgrowth on surfaces patterned with ECM or growth factor coatings [161-163].

Nanofibrillar structures have also been shown to provide a means for neurite cell attachment and guidance as they somewhat mimic the extracellular environment and the topographical nature of tightly aligned neurite bundles [164]. Fibre dimensions have been shown to improve differentiation of rat hippocampal-derived adult neural stem cells into both neurons and glial cells, when compared to tissue culture polystyrene surfaces [165].

4.2 Mechanical Properties

Various mechanical factors such as shear from fluid flow [166] and ECM elasticity [167] can affect stem cell differentiation in a process known as mechanotransduction. When designing a tissue engineering scaffold it is import to mimic, as closely as possible, the biomechanical environment of the *in vivo* tissue. Scaffold stiffness has been shown to affect the ability of neural precursor cells to attach, survive, proliferate and differentiate to neurons and glia on a range of different substrates.

The modulus of mammalian brain tissue varies throughout the brain [40, 168], with age and development [169] and is species dependent. Studies using magnetic resonance imaging have determined human white and grey matter moduli to be 2.37 and 2.28 kPa respectively [168]. Other studies found that 16 month old bovine white and grey matter had a modulus of 1.9 and 1.4 kPa respectively [40]. Linear deformation experiments and computer simulations have found the Young's modulus of swine brain to be 3.24 kPa [170]. This topic has previously been reviewed and has broadly classified the elastic modulus of brain tissue

to be in the range 0.1 - 16 kPa [33]. In order to engineer tissue as accurately as possible, it is important for scaffold mechanical properties to resemble those of natural tissue as much as possible.

One of the most powerful ways in which a substrate's mechanical properties can affect cell behaviour in 3D is through its impact on differentiation. Substrate stiffness has been shown to direct the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells to definitive cells types on polyacrylamide gels of Young's modulus values reflective of particular tissue types [171]. Adult mouse NSCs were shown to proliferate best, and express β -tubulin III (a marker indicative of neuronal differentiation), when encapsulated in alginate hydrogels of 183 Pa elastic modulus compared to stiffer materials of up to 19.7 kPa [172]. One of the most interesting examples of mechanotransduction is the ability of different stiffness substrates to affect the differentiation of NSCs to neuronal or glial cells. Slight variation in elastic modulus has been shown to affect differentiation - glial differentiation was observed on stiffer scaffolds and neuronal differentiation on slightly softer scaffolds. Cell culture on variable moduli interpenetrating polymer network (vmIPN) hydrogel surfaces indicated that softer gels (100-500 Pa) favour neuronal differentiation and harder gels (1-10 kPa) favour glial differentiation [173]. Similar results were found with type I collagen-hyaluronic acid hydrogels with varying stiffness, shown to induce neuronal differentiation for weaker scaffolds of 1 kPa modulus and glial differentiation for stiffer scaffolds of 10 kPa modulus [174]. Substrate stiffness has also been shown to influence cell attachment and proliferation. Attachment of rat NPCs on gelatin-based hydrogels was shown to be maximised for softer surfaces of 2 kPa stiffness compared to stiffer surfaces of the same material up to 35 kPa, though expansion of cells was shown not to be affected by substrate stiffness [175].

Materials softer than 100 Pa were shown to inhibit NSC dispersion and attachment indicating materials softer than brain tissue can also be detrimental to cell culture [173].

4.3 Surface Chemistry

The presence of basement membrane proteins such as collagen IV, laminin, fibronectin and others in 3D scaffolds is essential for the growth and adhesion of particular mammalian cell types. Human PSCs are extremely reliant on the extracellular environment for survival and for differentiation into particular cell types [176]. In an attempt to mimic the neural stem cell niche, tissue engineers are incorporating biological molecules onto and within scaffolds to provide a more realistic environment that can aid neural cell growth and differentiation.

The most common form of scaffold surface functionalization is the attachment of cell adhesion molecules. These molecules are typically short peptide binding motif sequences of ECM proteins such as collagen, laminin, fibronectin and vitronectin. The advantage of short peptide sequences over whole proteins is that they can be anchored to a surface, present the active binding site in the desired orientation and provide a high concentration of active binding sites to adhesion receptors [177, 178]. Some of the most commonly used short peptide sequences for human neural cell attachment are RGD [179-181], IKVAV [117, 182, 183] and YIGSR [120, 184-186].

The RGD sequence (Arg-Gly-Asp) [187] is one of the most physiologically ubiquitous binding motifs, and is present in adhesive proteins such as fibronectin, vitronectin, laminin and collagen I [14]. It is also the most widely studied adhesive peptide in the biomaterial field [177]. RGD is highly effective at promoting attachment of numerous cell types including hPSCs [177, 188]. RGD has been used as a purely adsorbed peptide and a chemically bound

peptide. RGD is recognized as a primary sequence by integrin receptors, which makes it robust, maintaining conformation throughout processing and sterilization [177]. RGD has been attached to the surface of many biomaterials and been shown to be successful in the culture and maintenance of mesenchymal stem cells [179-181]. However, its ability to provide continued support for these cultures over a long term has been limited [189]. This could possibly be due to the low affinity of linear RGD peptides, providing insufficiently strong adhesion [189]. Conformationally restricted RGD, in particular cyclic-RGD, increases integrin binding affinity and cell attachment [189, 190].

For the differentiation and maintenance of neural stem cells and neural cells in culture, the most widely used cell attachment molecule is laminin [38, 191], the primary component of the basement membrane in the brain. The IKVAV sequence (IIe-Lys-Val-Ala-Val) has been identified as an active site of laminin for cell adhesion, migration and neurite outgrowth [192]. IKVAV is specifically located on the α1 chain of laminin-1. Variations of the IKVAV peptide have been chemically bound to the surfaces of PEG hydrogels [182], PHEMA hydrogels [183] and collagen matrices [117] to varying degrees of success. Interestingly, it was found that immobilising an IKVAV peptide at each end in a PEG hydrogel produced a conformationally restricted, cyclic version of the peptide, similar to cyclic RGD. This novel cyclic IKVAV peptide outperformed the linear laminin IKVAV in attachment, proliferation, differentiation and migration of NSCs [182].

A less commonly studied laminin peptide is YIGSR (Tyr-Ile-Gly-Ser-Arg). Like IKVAV, YIGSR is an active laminin peptide, located on the β 1 chain [193]. YIGSR-functionalized scaffolds have been shown to have similar cellular effects as laminin-coated and IKVAV-functionalised scaffolds [120, 184-186].

Other biological molecules such as growth factors have been identified as surface functionalization molecules. By immobilizing molecules such as growth factors on surfaces, their activity is prolonged, as their attachment prevents endocytosis [194]. Molecules such as bFGF and EGF have been covalently attached to surfaces to promote proliferation and control migration of embryonic stem cells and neural stem cells [195-197]. In terms of aiding neural cell culture, growth factors such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), which promotes survival of cortical neurons [198], and nerve growth factor (NGF), which is involved in maintenance and proliferation of neurons [199], have been attached to hydrogels [200], macroporous polymers [201] and nanofibrous scaffolds [202], and in the majority of cases shown to enhance neuronal survival.

5. Application of 3D in vitro neural lineage cell culture in disease modelling

Neurodegenerative diseases are a world-wide leading cause of death, yet in many cases, limited cures exist for these debilitating disorders. Current treatments can alleviate some symptoms, but typically do not stop disease progression. The lack of therapies for neurodegenerative diseases is attributed to poor results from clinical trials, owing to the complexity of these disease states and lack of knowledge of the CNS. This has led to a decline in the funding of such endeavours, which poses huge future problems for aging populations [203]. Accurate and predictive disease models are pivotal to finding treatments to neurodegenerative diseases.

Neurodegenerative diseases include Alzheimer's disease and other dementias, motor neuron diseases, Huntington's disease, Parkinson's disease and others. They are typically characterised by the loss of function, then death of specific neuronal subtypes.

Neurodegenerative diseases can be caused by genetic, epigenetic or environmental factors. Current models of these diseases rely on humanized transgenic animals which can give poor or misleading outcomes when screening for treatments [46].

The ease with which induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) can now be generated from patient and normal human somatic cells has created new approaches to model diseases. HiPSCs have the advantage in that they provide a model with a completely human genome, bypass ethical concerns associated with embryonic stem cells, provide an unlimited supply and avoid cross-species issues with animal-derived products.

Somatic cells can be obtained from a patient with a particular neurological disease phenotype and used to generate hiPSC-derived neurons and glial cells of that particular phenotype. Previous methods of studying mutated ES cells, rodent brains and post-mortem brain tissue has had little success in identifying new therapeutic targets. HiPSC-derived neurons and glial cells offer a way of studying live, developing, disease-relevant cell types. While it is still a relatively new concept, hiPSC-derived neural cells of particular neurological disease types have been created from the somatic cells of patients with particular diseases such as dysautonomia [204], Rett syndrome [205, 206], Parkinson's disease [207], Huntington's disease [208], epilepsy [209] and others. For a review of neurological disease models using patient-derived iPSCs the reader is directed to the work of *Avior et al* [210].

Upon first thought it may seem far-fetched to model these diseases, which can take 50-70 years to appear symptomatically in a patient, in reprogrammed stem cell cultures only a few weeks old. Particular neurodegenerative diseases such as Huntington's disease can express genetic mutations even before birth [211], however most neurodegenerative disorders do not have known early genetic mutations. For this reason, research is being carried out into

the premature aging of iPSC-derived neural cells by increasing oxidative stress through chemical treatment [207] and the addition of progerin [212], which has been shown to accelerate the aging of iPSC-derived dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease studies [213].

There are however some concerns or challenges associated with using PSCs to model diseases. PSCs are used most readily to model monogenic early onset disorders, and are less useful, as discussed above, at modelling complex disorders with late onset symptoms [210]. The potential to model complex disorders most likely exists in patient-derived iPSCs rather than ESCs. When modelling cell-specific disorders it is necessary to have reliable, robust and reproducible differentiation techniques, which do not yet exist for some cell types. Non-cell autonomous effects have been identified as factors in numerous conditions [214]. On this basis there is a need to form complex co-culture systems of multiple target cells types. Control PSC cell lines run alongside assays also have shown potential to develop mutations over extended culture periods [215]. ESCs and iPSCs used to generate target neural lineage cell types for study have the potential to contaminate populations with residual PSCs, which have the potential to introduce non-target cell types into assays [214]. Also, comparisons of disease-derived iPSCs with healthy control cell lines can be a challenge due to transcriptome variability between individuals [216]. When comparing the differentiation of iPSCs and ESCs to neuroepithelial cell types, iPSCs were shown to produce the same cell types with the same transcriptional network but with significantly reduced efficiency and increased variability [217]. The differentiation efficiency of iPSCs is possibly affected by the viral reprogramming techniques with which they are generated[218]. While there are challenges associated with the use of PSCs and their derivatives for the modelling of diseases, none look to be insurmountable with multiple research teams currently investigating solutions.

6. Outlook

6.1 Disease Modelling

The next logical step in neurological disease modelling is co-cultures of different types of iPSC-derived neurons and glia, and generating spatially accurate three-dimensional cultures. Only a few co-cultures of hPSC-derived neurons and astrocytes have been reported [219, 220]. The development of 3D cultures has demonstrated the ability of hPSCs to self-organize during differentiation [127, 221, 222], and are beginning to be used to model certain neurological conditions [223] such as Zika virus [224, 225], microcephaly [127] and Alzheimer's Disease [226].

6.2 Drug Screening

Drug development is a long, tedious and expensive process with a path to market typically taking up to 20 years. It is divided into five phases: discovery and development, preclinical research, clinical research, administrative review and post-market safety monitoring [227]. The progression of new drug candidates from therapeutic discovery to clinical use is currently at an unacceptably low rate [228] and this can largely be attributed to poor pharmacological and toxicological data obtained from preclinical 2D *in vitro* cell-based and *in vivo* animal-based assays [229]. Unexpected toxicity is one of the main factors for postmarketing product withdrawals, accounting for a staggering 90% of market withdrawals from 1992-2002 [230], and has been an area of investigation that has seen little improvement over the past 20 years. This extremely high failure rate highlights the need for improved models for preclinical drug toxicity screening.

Preclinical research is typically where 2D cell cultures or animal models are used to test efficacy and toxicity of new drug candidates. Both 2D cell culture [1] and animal models [2] are limited in their ability to mimic human physiology. Furthermore, immortalized cell lines with genetic modifications that are typically used in 2D cell culture models [231] raise further questions of physiological accuracy. HiPSCs generated using non-integrative strategies and cultured in 3D could be used to reduce the level of doubt associated with genetically modified cells [232], and may in the future lead to more reliable *in vitro* toxicity data.

6.3 Surgical Implants

Secondary injury that comes from trauma or stroke causes permanent damage to the brain, as mature axons cannot be repaired or regenerated [233]. These injuries induce the proliferation of astrocytes, fibroblasts and oligodendrocyte precursors, which form glial scar. Inhibitory molecules located within the glial scar such as chondroitin sulphate proteoglycans further prevent neurogenesis [234].

After brain trauma, widespread neuronal cell death typically occurs and a cavity forms in the brain [235]. An implant that induces the formation of new functional neural tissue is required for repair. Tissue engineering scaffolds offer a possible way to restore function to the brain. Scaffolds can be bare [118], or possess molecules that induce regeneration [119]. They could contain a mixture of neural cells ready to network with the existing brain tissue, or they could be seeded with neural stem cells, which upon implantation could differentiate and form new neuronal and glial tissue. Although there is promising research being undertaken in the area of 3D neural tissue engineering, as highlighted above, there are

currently no FDA approved cell-based neural implant products for cellular or tissue therapy [236].

7. Conclusions

The need for more accurate *in vitro* models for tissues of the human nervous system is clearly highlighted by the current lack of treatments for neurological disorders. A variety of materials with various modifications have been investigated for the 3D culture of neural tissue, but it is clear that even the most advanced materials struggle to mimic the complexity of natural tissue. This is reflected in the lack of 3D neural tissue products on the market. However, giant strides have been made with organoid and hydrogel cultures that have produced tissue with complexity that has not been seen previously *in vitro*. These cultures do however suffer from scale-up issues as they have poor nutrient diffusion abilities due to lack of vascularisation. There are still developments to be made before 3D *in vitro* functional neural tissue cultures can be used for disease modelling, drug screening and surgical implantations.

References

- [1] E. Carletti, A. Motta, C. Migliaresi, Scaffolds for Tissue Engineering and 3D Cell Culture, in: J.W.
 Haycock (Ed.), 3D Cell Culture, Humana Press, 2011, pp. 17-39.
- [2] I.W.Y. Mak, N. Evaniew, M. Ghert, Lost in translation: animal models and clinical trials in cancer treatment, Am. J. Trans. Res. 6 (2014) 114-118.
- [3] X.-H. Xu, Z. Zhong, Disease modeling and drug screening for neurological diseases using human induced pluripotent stem cells, Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 34 (2013) 755-764.

- [4] E. Fuchs, T. Tumbar, G. Guasch, Socializing with the Neighbors: Stem Cells and Their Niche, Cell 116 (2004) 769-778.
- [5] K.J. Lampe, S.C. Heilshorn, Building stem cell niches from the molecule up through engineered peptide materials, Neurosci. Lett. 519 (2012) 138-146.
- [6] S.K. McConnell, Constructing the cerebral cortex: Neurogenesis and fate determination, Neuron 15 (1995) 761-768.
- [7] M.B. Luskin, A.L. Pearlman, J.R. Sanes, Cell lineage in the cerebral cortex of the mouse studied in vivo and in vitro with a Recombinant Retrovirus, Neuron 1 (1988) 635-647.
- [8] S.C. Noctor, V. Martinez-Cerdeno, L. Ivic, A.R. Kriegstein, Cortical neurons arise in symmetric and asymmetric division zones and migrate through specific phases, Nat. Neurosci. 7 (2004) 136-144.
- [9] W. Haubensak, A. Attardo, W. Denk, W.B. Huttner, Neurons arise in the basal neuroepithelium of the early mammalian telencephalon: A major site of neurogenesis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101 (2004) 3196-3201.
- [10] V. Solozobova, N. Wyvekens, J. Pruszak, Lessons from the Embryonic Neural Stem Cell Niche for Neural Lineage Differentiation of Pluripotent Stem Cells, Stem Cell Rev. Rep. 8 (2012) 813-829.
- [11] S. Budday, P. Steinmann, E. Kuhl, Physical biology of human brain development, Front. Cell. Neurosci. 9 (2015) 257.
- [12] I. Decimo, F. Bifari, M. Krampera, G. Fumagalli, Neural Stem Cell Niches in Health and Diseases, Curr. Pharm. Des. 18 (2012) 1755-1783.
- [13] A. Quiñones-Hinojosa, N. Sanai, M. Soriano-Navarro, O. Gonzalez-Perez, Z. Mirzadeh, S. Gil-Perotin, R. Romero-Rodriguez, M.S. Berger, J.M. Garcia-Verdugo, A. Alvarez-Buylla, Cellular composition and cytoarchitecture of the adult human subventricular zone: A niche of neural stem cells, J. Comp. Neurol. 494 (2006) 415-434.
- [14] E. Ruoslahti, M.D. Pierschbacher, New Perspectives in Cell Adhesion: RGD and Integrins, Science 238 (1987) 491-497.

- [15] F. Doetsch, I. Caillé, D.A. Lim, J.M. García-Verdugo, A. Alvarez-Buylla, Subventricular Zone Astrocytes Are Neural Stem Cells in the Adult Mammalian Brain, Cell 97 (1999) 703-716.
- [16] A. Quiñones-Hinojosa, N. Sanai, O. Gonzalez-Perez, J.M. Garcia-Verdugo, The Human Brain Subventricular Zone: Stem Cells in This Niche and Its Organization, Neurosurg. Clin. N. Am. 18 (2007) 15-20.
- [17] O. Arias-Carrión, Basic mechanisms of rTMS: Implications in Parkinson's disease, Int. Arch. Med.1 (2008) 2.
- [18] S.A. Goldman, Z. Chen, Perivascular instruction of cell genesis and fate in the adult brain, Nat. Neurosci. 14 (2011) 1382-1389.
- [19] B. Seri, J.M. García-Verdugo, B.S. McEwen, A. Alvarez-Buylla, Astrocytes Give Rise to New Neurons in the Adult Mammalian Hippocampus, J. Neurosci. 21 (2001) 7153-7160.
- [20] V. Filippov, G. Kronenberg, T. Pivneva, K. Reuter, B. Steiner, L.-P. Wang, M. Yamaguchi, H. Kettenmann, G. Kempermann, Subpopulation of nestin-expressing progenitor cells in the adult murine hippocampus shows electrophysiological and morphological characteristics of astrocytes, Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 23 (2003) 373-382.
- [21] B. Seri, J.M. García-Verdugo, L. Collado-Morente, B.S. McEwen, A. Alvarez-Buylla, Cell types, lineage, and architecture of the germinal zone in the adult dentate gyrus, J. Comp. Neurol. 478 (2004) 359-378.
- [22] V. Tropepe, M. Sibilia, B.G. Ciruna, J. Rossant, E.F. Wagner, D. van der Kooy, Distinct neural stem cells proliferate in response to EGF and FGF in the developing mouse telencephalon, Dev. Biol. 208 (1999) 166-188.
- [23] A. Kerever, J. Schnack, D. Vellinga, N. Ichikawa, C. Moon, E. Arikawa-Hirasawa, J.T. Efird, F. Mercier, Novel Extracellular Matrix Structures in the Neural Stem Cell Niche Capture the Neurogenic Factor Fibroblast Growth Factor 2 from the Extracellular Milieu, Stem Cells 25 (2007) 2146-2157.

- [24] S. Sirko, A. von Holst, A. Wizenmann, M. Götz, A. Faissner, Chondroitin sulfate glycosaminoglycans control proliferation, radial glia cell differentiation and neurogenesis in neural stem/progenitor cells, Development 134 (2007) 2727-2738.
- [25] Y. Choe, S.J. Pleasure, H. Mira, Control of Adult Neurogenesis by Short-Range Morphogenic-Signaling Molecules, Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. (2015) a018887.
- [26] D.A. Lim, A.D. Tramontin, J.M. Trevejo, D.G. Herrera, J.M. García-Verdugo, A. Alvarez-Buylla, Noggin Antagonizes BMP Signaling to Create a Niche for Adult Neurogenesis, Neuron 28 (2000) 713-726.
- [27] A.M. Bond, O.G. Bhalala, J.A. Kessler, The Dynamic Role of Bone Morphogenetic Proteins in Neural Stem Cell Fate and Maturation, Dev. Neurobiol. 72 (2012) 1068-1084.
- [28] K. Jin, Y. Zhu, Y. Sun, X.O. Mao, L. Xie, D.A. Greenberg, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) Stimulates Neurogenesis in vitro and in vivo, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99 (2002) 11946-11950.
- [29] J.M. Rosenstein, J.M. Krum, C. Ruhrberg, VEGF in the nervous system, Organogenesis 6 (2010) 107-114.
- [30] P. Carmeliet, C.R. de Almodovar, VEGF ligands and receptors: implications in neurodevelopment and neurodegeneration, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 70 (2013) 1763-1778.
- [31] D. Bagnard, C. Vaillant, S.-T. Khuth, N. Dufay, M. Lohrum, A.W. Püschel, M.-F. Belin, J. Bolz, N. Thomasset, Semaphorin 3A–Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-165 Balance Mediates Migration and Apoptosis of Neural Progenitor Cells by the Recruitment of Shared Receptor, J. Neurosci. 21 (2001) 3332-3341.
- [32] H. Meng, Z. Zhang, R. Zhang, X. Liu, L. Wang, A.M. Robin, M. Chopp, Biphasic effects of exogenous VEGF on VEGF expression of adult neural progenitors, Neurosci. Lett. 393 (2006) 97-101.
- [33] W.J. Tyler, The mechanobiology of brain function, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 13 (2012) 867-878.

- [34] C.E. Bandtlow, D.R. Zimmermann, Proteoglycans in the Developing Brain: New Conceptual Insights for Old Proteins, Physiol. Rev. 80 (2000) 1267-1290.
- [35] J.C.F. Kwok, G. Dick, D. Wang, J.W. Fawcett, Extracellular matrix and perineuronal nets in CNS repair, Dev. Neurobiol. 71 (2011) 1073-1089.
- [36] E. Ruoslahti, Brain extracellular matrix, Glycobiology 6 (1996) 489-492.
- [37] L.W. Lau, R. Cua, M.B. Keough, S. Haylock-Jacobs, V.W. Yong, Pathophysiology of the brain extracellular matrix: a new target for remyelination, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 14 (2013) 722-729.
- [38] L.A. Flanagan, L.M. Rebaza, S. Derzic, P.H. Schwartz, E.S. Monuki, Regulation of human neural precursor cells by laminin and integrins, J. Neurosci. Res. 83 (2006) 845-856.
- [39] I.M. Ethell, D.W. Ethell, Matrix metalloproteinases in brain development and remodeling: Synaptic functions and targets, J. Neurosci. Res. 85 (2007) 2813-2823.
- [40] S. Budday, R. Nay, R. de Rooij, P. Steinmann, T. Wyrobek, T.C. Ovaert, E. Kuhl, Mechanical properties of gray and white matter brain tissue by indentation, J. Mech. Behav. Biomed. 46 (2015) 318-330.
- [41] E.R. Aurand, J. Wagner, C. Lanning, K.B. Bjugstad, Building biocompatible hydrogels for tissue engineering of the brain and spinal cord, J. Funct. Biomater. 3 (2012) 839-863.
- [42] J.A. Thomson, J. Itskovitz-Eldor, S.S. Shapiro, M.A. Waknitz, J.J. Swiergiel, V.S. Marshall, J.M. Jones, Embryonic Stem Cell Lines Derived from Human Blastocysts, Science 282 (1998) 1145-1147.
- [43] K. Takahashi, K. Tanabe, M. Ohnuki, M. Narita, T. Ichisaka, K. Tomoda, S. Yamanaka, Induction of Pluripotent Stem Cells from Adult Human Fibroblasts by Defined Factors, Cell 131 (2007) 861-872.
- [44] J. Yu, M.A. Vodyanik, K. Smuga-Otto, J. Antosiewicz-Bourget, J.L. Frane, S. Tian, J. Nie, G.A. Jonsdottir, V. Ruotti, S. Ron, I.I. Slukvin, J.A. Thomson, Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Lines Derived from Human Somatic Cells, Science 318 (2007) 1917-1920.

- [45] K. Takahashi, S. Yamanaka, Induction of Pluripotent Stem Cells from Mouse Embryonic and Adult Fibroblast Cultures by Defined Factors, Cell 126 (2006) 663-676.
- [46] K.M. Haston, S. Finkbeiner, Clinical Trials in a Dish: The Potential of Pluripotent Stem Cells to Develop Therapies for Neurodegenerative Diseases, Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 56 (2016) 489-510.
- [47] D. Tornero, S. Wattananit, M. Grønning Madsen, P. Koch, J. Wood, J. Tatarishvili, Y. Mine, R. Ge, E. Monni, K. Devaraju, R.F. Hevner, O. Brüstle, O. Lindvall, Z. Kokaia, Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cortical neurons integrate in stroke-injured cortex and improve functional recovery, Brain 136 (2013) 3561-3577.
- [48] Y. Shi, P. Kirwan, J. Smith, H.P.C. Robinson, F.J. Livesey, Human cerebral cortex development from pluripotent stem cells to functional excitatory synapses, Nat. Neurosci. 15 (2012) 477-486.
- [49] A. Swistowski, J. Peng, Q. Liu, P. Mali, M.S. Rao, L. Cheng, X. Zeng, Efficient Generation of Functional Dopaminergic Neurons from Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells Under Defined Conditions, Stem Cells 28 (2010) 1893-1904.
- [50] M.E. Hester, M.J. Murtha, S. Song, M. Rao, C.J. Miranda, K. Meyer, J. Tian, G. Boulting, D.V. Schaffer, M.X. Zhu, S.L. Pfaff, F.H. Gage, B.K. Kaspar, Rapid and Efficient Generation of Functional Motor Neurons From Human Pluripotent Stem Cells Using Gene Delivered Transcription Factor Codes, Mol. Ther. 19 (2011) 1905-1912.
- [51] L. Aubry, A. Bugi, N. Lefort, F. Rousseau, M. Peschanski, A.L. Perrier, Striatal progenitors derived from human ES cells mature into DARPP32 neurons in vitro and in quinolinic acid-lesioned rats, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105 (2008) 16707-16712.
- [52] B.-Y. Hu, Z.-W. Du, S.-C. Zhang, Differentiation of human oligodendrocytes from pluripotent stem cells, Nat. Protoc. 4 (2009) 1614-1622.
- [53] J.W. Haycock, 3D Cell Culture: A Review of Current Approaches and Techniques, in: J.W. Haycock (Ed.), 3D Cell Culture, Humana Press, 2011, pp. 1-15.

- [54] A.V. Lluch, D.M.G. Cruz, J.L.E. Ivirico, C.M. Ramos, M.M. Pradas, Polymers as Materials for Tissue Engineering Scaffolds, Polymers in Regenerative Medicine, John Wiley & Sons, Inc, Hoboken, NJ, 2014, pp. 1-47.
- [55] B. Dhandayuthapani, Y. Yoshida, T. Maekawa, D.S. Kumar, Polymeric Scaffolds in Tissue Engineering Application: A Review, Int. J. Polym. Sci. 2011 (2011).
- [56] R.A. Marklein, J.A. Burdick, Controlling stem cell fate with material design, Adv. Mater. 22 (2010) 175-189.
- [57] S.M. O'Connor, D.A. Stenger, K.M. Shaffer, D. Maric, J.L. Barker, W. Ma, Primary neural precursor cell expansion, differentiation and cytosolic Ca2+ response in three-dimensional collagen gel, J. Neurosci. Methods 102 (2000) 187-195.
- [58] W. Ma, W. Fitzgerald, Q.Y. Liu, T.J. O'Shaughnessy, D. Maric, H.J. Lin, D.L. Alkon, J.L. Barker, CNS stem and progenitor cell differentiation into functional neuronal circuits in three-dimensional collagen gels, Exp. Neurol. 190 (2004) 276-288.
- [59] H.J. Lin, T.J. O'Shaughnessy, J. Kelly, W. Ma, Neural stem cell differentiation in a cell–collagen– bioreactor culture system, Dev. Brain Res. 153 (2004) 163-173.
- [60] W. Ma, S. Chen, W. Fitzgerald, D. Maric, H.J. Lin, T.J. O'Shaughnessy, J. Kelly, X.-H. Liu, J.L. Barker, Three-Dimensional Collagen Gel Networks for Neural Stem Cell-Based Neural Tissue Engineering, Macromol. Symp. 227 (2005) 327-334.
- [61] X. Li, T. Liu, K. Song, L. Yao, D. Ge, C. Bao, X. Ma, Z. Cui, Culture of neural stem cells in calcium alginate beads, Biotechnol. Prog. 22 (2006) 1683-1689.
- [62] K. Brännvall, K. Bergman, U. Wallenquist, S. Svahn, T. Bowden, J. Hilborn, K. Forsberg-Nilsson, Enhanced neuronal differentiation in a three-dimensional collagen-hyaluronan matrix, J. Neurosci. Res. 85 (2007) 2138-2146.
- [63] S.K. Seidlits, Z.Z. Khaing, R.R. Petersen, J.D. Nickels, J.E. Vanscoy, J.B. Shear, C.E. Schmidt, The effects of hyaluronic acid hydrogels with tunable mechanical properties on neural progenitor cell differentiation, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 3930-3940.

- [64] T. Führmann, L.M. Hillen, K. Montzka, M. Wöltje, G.A. Brook, Cell–Cell interactions of human neural progenitor-derived astrocytes within a microstructured 3D-scaffold, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 7705-7715.
- [65] D. Ge, K. Song, S. Guan, Y. Qi, B. Guan, W. Li, J. Liu, X. Ma, T. Liu, Z. Cui, Culture and Differentiation of Rat Neural Stem/Progenitor Cells in a Three-Dimensional Collagen Scaffold, Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 170 (2013) 406-419.
- [66] S. Hong, K. Yang, B. Kang, C. Lee, I.T. Song, E. Byun, K.I. Park, S.-W. Cho, H. Lee, Hyaluronic Acid Catechol: A Biopolymer Exhibiting a pH-Dependent Adhesive or Cohesive Property for Human Neural Stem Cell Engineering, Adv. Funct. Mater. 23 (2013) 1774-1780.
- [67] L. Meli, H.S.C. Barbosa, A.M. Hickey, L. Gasimli, G. Nierode, M.M. Diogo, R.J. Linhardt, J.M.S. Cabral, J.S. Dordick, Three dimensional cellular microarray platform for human neural stem cell differentiation and toxicology, Stem Cell Res. 13 (2014) 36-47.
- [68] A.M. Cruz Gaitán, N.M. Torres-Ruíz, N.G. Carri, Embryonic neural stem cells in a 3D bioassay for trophic stimulation studies, Brain Res. Bull. 115 (2015) 37-44.
- [69] Y.H. Kim, S.H. Choi, C. D'Avanzo, M. Hebisch, C. Sliwinski, E. Bylykbashi, K.J. Washicosky, J.B. Klee,O. Brustle, R.E. Tanzi, D.Y. Kim, A 3D human neural cell culture system for modeling Alzheimer's disease, Nat. Protocols 10 (2015) 985-1006.
- [70] S. Tasneem, K. Farrell, M.-Y. Lee, C.R. Kothapalli, Sensitivity of neural stem cell survival, differentiation and neurite outgrowth within 3D hydrogels to environmental heavy metals, Toxicol. Lett. 242 (2016) 9-22.
- [71] R.S. Ashton, A. Banerjee, S. Punyani, D.V. Schaffer, R.S. Kane, Scaffolds based on degradable alginate hydrogels and poly (lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres for stem cell culture, Biomaterials 28 (2007) 5518-5525.
- [72] Z.X. Zhang, Q.X. Zheng, Y.C. Wu, D.J. Hao, Compatibility of neural stem cells with functionalized self-assembling peptide scaffold in vitro, Biotechnol. Bioprocess Eng. 15 (2010) 545-551.

- [73] S. Ortinau, J. Schmich, S. Block, A. Liedmann, L. Jonas, D.G. Weiss, C.A. Helm, A. Rolfs, M.J. Frech, Effect of 3D-scaffold formation on differentiation and survival in human neural progenitor cells, Biomed. Eng. Online 9 (2010) 70.
- [74] Y. Song, Y. Li, Q. Zheng, K. Wu, X. Guo, Y. Wu, M. Yin, Q. Wu, X. Fu, Neural Progenitor Cells Survival and Neuronal Differentiation in Peptide-Based Hydrogels, J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 22 (2011) 475-487.
- [75] H. Li, A. Wijekoon, N.D. Leipzig, 3D differentiation of neural stem cells in macroporous photopolymerizable hydrogel scaffolds, PLoS One 7 (2012) e48824.
- [76] T.-Y. Cheng, M.-H. Chen, W.-H. Chang, M.-Y. Huang, T.-W. Wang, Neural stem cells encapsulated in a functionalized self-assembling peptide hydrogel for brain tissue engineering, Biomaterials 34 (2013) 2005-2016.
- [77] H. Li, A. Wijekoon, N.D. Leipzig, Encapsulated Neural Stem Cell Neuronal Differentiation in Fluorinated Methacrylamide Chitosan Hydrogels, Ann. Biomed. Eng. 42 (2014) 1456-1469.
- [78] F.-Y. Hsieh, H.-H. Lin, S.-h. Hsu, 3D bioprinting of neural stem cell-laden thermoresponsive biodegradable polyurethane hydrogel and potential in central nervous system repair, Biomaterials 71 (2015) 48-57.
- [79] Y. Sun, W. Li, X. Wu, N. Zhang, Y. Zhang, S. Ouyang, X. Song, X. Fang, R. Seeram, W. Xue, L. He, W. Wu, Functional Self-Assembling Peptide Nanofiber Hydrogels Designed for Nerve Degeneration, ACS Appl. Mater. Interf. 8 (2016) 2348-2359.
- [80] Z.-N. Zhang, B.C. Freitas, H. Qian, J. Lux, A. Acab, C.A. Trujillo, R.H. Herai, V.A. Nguyen Huu, J.H. Wen, S. Joshi-Barr, J.V. Karpiak, A.J. Engler, X.-D. Fu, A.R. Muotri, A. Almutairi, Layered hydrogels accelerate iPSC-derived neuronal maturation and reveal migration defects caused by MeCP2 dysfunction, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 113 (2016) 3185-3190.
- [81] C.M. Madl, L.M. Katz, S.C. Heilshorn, Bio-Orthogonally Crosslinked, Engineered Protein Hydrogels with Tunable Mechanics and Biochemistry for Cell Encapsulation, Adv. Funct. Mater. 26 (2016) 3612-3620.

- [82] H. Aligholi, S.M. Rezayat, H. Azari, S. Ejtemaei Mehr, M. Akbari, S.M. Modarres Mousavi, F. Attari, F. Alipour, G. Hassanzadeh, A. Gorji, Preparing neural stem/progenitor cells in PuraMatrix hydrogel for transplantation after brain injury in rats: A comparative methodological study, Brain Res. 1642 (2016) 197-208.
- [83] Y.D. Teng, E.B. Lavik, X. Qu, K.I. Park, J. Ourednik, D. Zurakowski, R. Langer, E.Y. Snyder, Functional recovery following traumatic spinal cord injury mediated by a unique polymer scaffold seeded with neural stem cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99 (2002) 3024-3029.
- [84] H.E. Olson, G.E. Rooney, L. Gross, J.J. Nesbitt, K.E. Galvin, A. Knight, B. Chen, M.J. Yaszemski, A.J. Windebank, Neural stem cell–and Schwann cell–loaded biodegradable polymer scaffolds support axonal regeneration in the transected spinal cord, Tissue Eng. Part A 15 (2009) 1797-1805.
- [85] Y. Lai, A. Asthana, K. Cheng, W.S. Kisaalita, Neural cell 3D microtissue formation is marked by cytokines' up-regulation, PloS One 6 (2011) e26821.
- [86] Y. Lai, W.S. Kisaalita, Performance Evaluation of 3D Polystyrene 96-Well Plates with Human Neural Stem Cells in a Calcium Assay, J. Lab. Autom. 17 (2012) 284-292.
- [87] N. Li, Q. Zhang, S. Gao, Q. Song, R. Huang, L. Wang, L. Liu, J. Dai, M. Tang, G. Cheng, Threedimensional graphene foam as a biocompatible and conductive scaffold for neural stem cells, Sci. Rep. 3 (2013).
- [88] M.C. Serrano, S. Nardecchia, C. García-Rama, M.L. Ferrer, J.E. Collazos-Castro, F. del Monte, M.C. Gutiérrez, Chondroitin sulphate-based 3D scaffolds containing MWCNTs for nervous tissue repair, Biomaterials 35 (2014) 1543-1551.
- [89] L. Stevanato, J.D. Sinden, The effects of microRNAs on human neural stem cell differentiation in two- and three-dimensional cultures, Stem Cell. Res. Ther. 5 (2014) 49.
- [90] B. Subia, R.R. Rao, S.C. Kundu, Silk 3D matrices incorporating human neural progenitor cells for neural tissue engineering applications, Polym. J. (2015).

- [91] K.I. Park, Y.D. Teng, E.Y. Snyder, The injured brain interacts reciprocally with neural stem cells supported by scaffolds to reconstitute lost tissue, Nat. Biotechnol. 20 (2002) 1111-1117.
- [92] F. Yang, R. Murugan, S. Ramakrishna, X. Wang, Y.-X. Ma, S. Wang, Fabrication of nanostructured porous PLLA scaffold intended for nerve tissue engineering, Biomaterials 25 (2004) 1891-1900.
- [93] G.A. Silva, C. Czeisler, K.L. Niece, E. Beniash, D.A. Harrington, J.A. Kessler, S.I. Stupp, Selective Differentiation of Neural Progenitor Cells by High-Epitope Density Nanofibers, Science 303 (2004) 1352-1355.
- [94] F. Yang, C. Xu, M. Kotaki, S. Wang, S. Ramakrishna, Characterization of neural stem cells on electrospun poly (L-lactic acid) nanofibrous scaffold, J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 15 (2004) 1483-1497.
- [95] F. Gelain, D. Bottai, A. Vescovi, S. Zhang, Designer Self-Assembling Peptide Nanofiber Scaffolds for Adult Mouse Neural Stem Cell 3-Dimensional Cultures, PloS One 1 (2006) e119.
- [96] D.R. Nisbet, L.M.Y. Yu, T. Zahir, J.S. Forsythe, M.S. Shoichet, Characterization of neural stem cells on electrospun poly(ε-caprolactone) submicron scaffolds: evaluating their potential in neural tissue engineering, J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 19 (2008) 623-634.
- [97] M.K. Horne, D.R. Nisbet, J.S. Forsythe, C.L. Parish, Three-dimensional nanofibrous scaffolds incorporating immobilized BDNF promote proliferation and differentiation of cortical neural stem cells, Stem Cells Dev. 19 (2009) 843-852.
- [98] X.-Y. Xu, X.-T. Li, S.-W. Peng, J.-F. Xiao, C. Liu, G. Fang, K.C. Chen, G.-Q. Chen, The behaviour of neural stem cells on polyhydroxyalkanoate nanofiber scaffolds, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 3967-3975.
- [99] C. Cunha, S. Panseri, O. Villa, D. Silva, F. Gelain, 3D culture of adult mouse neural stem cells within functionalized self-assembling peptide scaffolds, Int. J. Nanomedicine 6 (2011) 943-955.

- [100] H.F. Lu, S.-X. Lim, M.F. Leong, K. Narayanan, R.P.K. Toh, S. Gao, A.C.A. Wan, Efficient neuronal differentiation and maturation of human pluripotent stem cells encapsulated in 3D microfibrous scaffolds, Biomaterials 33 (2012) 9179-9187.
- [101] K. Zhou, G. Thouas, C. Bernard, J.S. Forsythe, 3D presentation of a neurotrophic factor for the regulation of neural progenitor cells, Nanomedicine 9 (2013) 1239-1251.
- [102] H. He, W. Li, J. Su, H. Wang, Z. Ye, M. Cai, B. Hou, C. Liang, J. Gong, Y. Guo, In Vitro Evaluation of the Cytocompatibility of an Acellular Rat Brain Matrix Scaffold with Neural Stem Cells, J. Biomater. Tissue Eng. 5 (2015) 628-634.
- [103] T.M. Keenan, J.R. Grinager, A.A. Procak, C.N. Svendsen, In vitro localization of human neural stem cell neurogenesis by engineered FGF-2 gradients, Integr. Biol. 4 (2012) 1522-1531.
- [104] B. Wang, S. Jedlicka, X. Cheng, Maintenance and Neuronal Cell Differentiation of Neural Stem Cells C17.2 Correlated to Medium Availability Sets Design Criteria in Microfluidic Systems, PLoS ONE 9 (2014) e109815.
- [105] B. Koch, A.K. Meyer, L. Helbig, S.M. Harazim, A. Storch, S. Sanchez, O.G. Schmidt, Dimensionality of Rolled-up Nanomembranes Controls Neural Stem Cell Migration Mechanism, Nano Lett. 15 (2015) 5530-5538.
- [106] K. Yang, H.-J. Park, S. Han, J. Lee, E. Ko, J. Kim, J.S. Lee, J.H. Yu, K.Y. Song, E. Cheong, S.-R. Cho, S. Chung, S.-W. Cho, Recapitulation of in vivo-like paracrine signals of human mesenchymal stem cells for functional neuronal differentiation of human neural stem cells in a 3D microfluidic system, Biomaterials 63 (2015) 177-188.
- [107] M.P. Schwartz, Z. Hou, N.E. Propson, J. Zhang, C.J. Engstrom, V.S. Costa, P. Jiang, B.K. Nguyen, J.M. Bolin, W. Daly, Y. Wang, R. Stewart, C.D. Page, W.L. Murphy, J.A. Thomson, Human pluripotent stem cell-derived neural constructs for predicting neural toxicity, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 112 (2015) 12516-12521.

- [108] F. Sharifi, B.B. Patel, A.K. Dzuilko, R. Montazami, D.S. Sakaguchi, N. Hashemi, Polycaprolactone Microfibrous Scaffolds to Navigate Neural Stem Cells, Biomacromolecules 17 (2016) 3287-3297.
- [109] Y.S. Pek, A.C.A. Wan, J.Y. Ying, The effect of matrix stiffness on mesenchymal stem cell differentiation in a 3D thixotropic gel, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 385-391.
- [110] K.T. Nguyen, J.L. West, Photopolymerizable hydrogels for tissue engineering applications, Biomaterials 23 (2002) 4307-4314.
- [111] H. Tan, C.R. Chu, K.A. Payne, K.G. Marra, Injectable in situ forming biodegradable chitosan– hyaluronic acid based hydrogels for cartilage tissue engineering, Biomaterials 30 (2009) 2499-2506.
- [112] K. Chwalek, M.D. Tang-Schomer, F.G. Omenetto, D.L. Kaplan, In vitro bioengineered model of cortical brain tissue, Nat. Protocols 10 (2015) 1362-1373.
- [113] M.K. Włodarczyk-Biegun, K. Farbod, M.W.T. Werten, C.J. Slingerland, F.A. de Wolf, J.J.J.P. van den Beucken, S.C.G. Leeuwenburgh, M.A. Cohen Stuart, M. Kamperman, Fibrous Hydrogels for Cell Encapsulation: A Modular and Supramolecular Approach, PLoS ONE 11 (2016) e0155625.
- [114] Y. Shao, J. Sang, J. Fu, On human pluripotent stem cell control: The rise of 3D bioengineering and mechanobiology, Biomaterials 52 (2015) 26-43.
- [115] M. Nagaoka, K. Si-Tayeb, T. Akaike, S.A. Duncan, Culture of human pluripotent stem cells using completely defined conditions on a recombinant E-cadherin substratum, BMC Dev. Biol. 10 (2010) 60-60.
- [116] M.G. Haugh, C.M. Murphy, F.J. O'Brien, Novel Freeze-Drying Methods to Produce a Range of Collagen–Glycosaminoglycan Scaffolds with Tailored Mean Pore Sizes, Tissue Eng. Part C Methods 16 (2009) 887-894.
- [117] H. Hosseinkhani, Y. Hiraoka, C.-H. Li, Y.-R. Chen, D.-S. Yu, P.-D. Hong, K.-L. Ou, Engineering Three-Dimensional Collagen-IKVAV Matrix to Mimic Neural Microenvironment, ACS Chem. Neurosci. 4 (2013) 1229-1235.

- [118] K.-F. Huang, W.-C. Hsu, W.-T. Chiu, J.-Y. Wang, Functional improvement and neurogenesis after collagen-GAG matrix implantation into surgical brain trauma, Biomaterials 33 (2012) 2067-2075.
- [119] K.-F. Huang, W.-C. Hsu, J.-K. Hsiao, G.-S. Chen, J.-Y. Wang, Collagen-Glycosaminoglycan Matrix Implantation Promotes Angiogenesis following Surgical Brain Trauma, Biomed. Res. Int. 2014 (2014) 672409.
- [120] S. Itoh, K. Takakuda, H. Samejima, T. Ohta, K. Shinomiya, S. Ichinose, Synthetic collagen fibers coated with a synthetic peptide containing the YIGSR sequence of laminin to promote peripheral nerve regeneration in vivo, J. Mater. Sci. Mater. Med. 10 (1999) 129-134.
- [121] S. Guan, X.-L. Zhang, X.-M. Lin, T.-Q. Liu, X.-H. Ma, Z.-F. Cui, Chitosan/gelatin porous scaffolds containing hyaluronic acid and heparan sulfate for neural tissue engineering, J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 24 (2013) 999-1014.
- [122] C.C. Winter, K.S. Katiyar, N.S. Hernandez, Y.J. Song, L.A. Struzyna, J.P. Harris, D.K. Cullen, Transplantable living scaffolds comprised of micro-tissue engineered aligned astrocyte networks to facilitate central nervous system regeneration, Acta Biomater. 38 (2016) 44-58.
- [123] L.R. Stevens, K.J. Gilmore, G.G. Wallace, M. in het Panhuis, Tissue engineering with gellan gum, Biomater. Sci. 4 (2016) 1276-1290.
- [124] R. Lozano, L. Stevens, B.C. Thompson, K.J. Gilmore, R. Gorkin Iii, E.M. Stewart, M. in het Panhuis, M. Romero-Ortega, G.G. Wallace, 3D printing of layered brain-like structures using peptide modified gellan gum substrates, Biomaterials 67 (2015) 264-273.
- [125] M.A. Lancaster, J.A. Knoblich, Generation of cerebral organoids from human pluripotent stem cells, Nat. Protocols 9 (2014) 2329-2340.
- [126] B.A. Lindborg, J.H. Brekke, A.L. Vegoe, C.B. Ulrich, K.T. Haider, S. Subramaniam, S.L. Venhuizen,
 C.R. Eide, P.J. Orchard, W. Chen, Q. Wang, F. Pelaez, C.M. Scott, E. Kokkoli, S.A. Keirstead, J.R.
 Dutton, J. Tolar, T.D. O'Brien, Rapid Induction of Cerebral Organoids From Human Induced

Pluripotent Stem Cells Using a Chemically Defined Hydrogel and Defined Cell Culture Medium, Stem Cells Transl. Med. (2016).

- [127] M.A. Lancaster, M. Renner, C.-A. Martin, D. Wenzel, L.S. Bicknell, M.E. Hurles, T. Homfray, J.M. Penninger, A.P. Jackson, J.A. Knoblich, Cerebral organoids model human brain development and microcephaly, Nature 501 (2013) 373-379.
- [128] I.M. El-Sherbiny, M.H. Yacoub, Hydrogel scaffolds for tissue engineering: Progress and challenges, Glob. Cardiol. Sci. Pract. 2013 (2013) 316-342.
- [129] J. Zhu, R.E. Marchant, Design properties of hydrogel tissue-engineering scaffolds, Expert Rev. Med. Devices 8 (2011) 607-626.
- [130] M.J. Mahoney, K.S. Anseth, Three-dimensional growth and function of neural tissue in degradable polyethylene glycol hydrogels, Biomaterials 27 (2006) 2265-2274.
- [131] S. Motamed, M.P. Del Borgo, K. Kulkarni, N. Habila, K. Zhou, P. Perlmutter, J.S. Forsythe, M.I. Aguilar, A self-assembling [small beta]-peptide hydrogel for neural tissue engineering, Soft Matter 12 (2016) 2243-2246.
- [132] M.W. Hayman, K.H. Smith, N.R. Cameron, S.A. Przyborski, Growth of human stem cell-derived neurons on solid three-dimensional polymers, J. Biochem. Biophys. Methods 62 (2005) 231-240.
- [133] M. Vielreicher, S. Schürmann, R. Detsch, M.A. Schmidt, A. Buttgereit, A. Boccaccini, O. Friedrich, Taking a deep look: modern microscopy technologies to optimize the design and functionality of biocompatible scaffolds for tissue engineering in regenerative medicine, J. R. Soc. Interface 10 (2013) 20130263.
- [134] S. Breslin, L. O'Driscoll, Three-dimensional cell culture: the missing link in drug discovery, Drug Discov. Today 18 (2013) 240-249.
- [135] F. Intranuovo, R. Gristina, F. Brun, S. Mohammadi, G. Ceccone, E. Sardella, F. Rossi, G. Tromba,
 P. Favia, Plasma Modification of PCL Porous Scaffolds Fabricated by Solvent-Casting/Particulate-Leaching for Tissue Engineering, Plasma Process. Polym. 11 (2014) 184-195.

- [136] I.O. Smith, X.H. Liu, L.A. Smith, P.X. Ma, Nano-structured polymer scaffolds for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine, Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 1 (2009) 226-236.
- [137] D.J. Mooney, D.F. Baldwin, N.P. Suh, J.P. Vacanti, R. Langer, Novel approach to fabricate porous sponges of poly(d,I-lactic-co-glycolic acid) without the use of organic solvents, Biomaterials 17 (1996) 1417-1422.
- [138] N.R. Cameron, High internal phase emulsion templating as a route to well-defined porous polymers, Polymer 46 (2005) 1439-1449.
- [139] Q.L. Loh, C. Choong, Three-Dimensional Scaffolds for Tissue Engineering Applications: Role of Porosity and Pore Size, Tissue Eng. Part B Reviews 19 (2013) 485-502.
- [140] J.P. Lafleur, S. Senkbeil, J. Novotny, G. Nys, N. Bogelund, K.D. Rand, F. Foret, J.P. Kutter, Rapid and simple preparation of thiol-ene emulsion-templated monoliths and their application as enzymatic microreactors, Lab Chip 15 (2015) 2162-2172.
- [141] Y. Lai, K. Cheng, W. Kisaalita, Three Dimensional Neuronal Cell Cultures More Accurately Model Voltage Gated Calcium Channel Functionality in Freshly Dissected Nerve Tissue, PLoS ONE 7 (2012) e45074.
- [142] C. Vepari, D.L. Kaplan, Silk as a biomaterial, Prog. Polym. Sci. 32 (2007) 991-1007.
- [143] M.D. Tang-Schomer, J.D. White, L.W. Tien, L.I. Schmitt, T.M. Valentin, D.J. Graziano, A.M. Hopkins, F.G. Omenetto, P.G. Haydon, D.L. Kaplan, Bioengineered functional brain-like cortical tissue, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 111 (2014) 13811-13816.
- [144] D. Purves, G.J. Augustine, D. Fitzpatrick. An Overview of Cortical Structure. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland (MA), 2001.
- [145] H. Cao, T. Liu, S.Y. Chew, The application of nanofibrous scaffolds in neural tissue engineering, Adv. Drug Del. Rev. 61 (2009) 1055-1064.
- [146] R. Vasita, D.S. Katti, Nanofibers and their applications in tissue engineering, Int. J. Nanomedicine 1 (2006) 15-30.

- [147] A. Subramanian, U.M. Krishnan, S. Sethuraman, Development of biomaterial scaffold for nerve tissue engineering: Biomaterial mediated neural regeneration, J. Biomed. Sci. 16 (2009) 108-108.
- [148] A. Guimarães, A. Martins, E.D. Pinho, S. Faria, R.L. Reis, N.M. Neves, Solving cell infiltration limitations of electrospun nanofiber meshes for tissue engineering applications, Nanomedicine 5 (2010) 539-554.
- [149] A. Martins, J.V. Araújo, R.L. Reis, N.M. Neves, Electrospun nanostructured scaffolds for tissue engineering applications, Nanomedicine 2 (2007) 929-942.
- [150] T. Sudwilai, J.J. Ng, C. Boonkrai, N. Israsena, S. Chuangchote, P. Supaphol, Polypyrrole-coated electrospun poly(lactic acid) fibrous scaffold: effects of coating on electrical conductivity and neural cell growth, J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 25 (2014) 1240-1252.
- [151] S. Baiguera, C. Del Gaudio, E. Lucatelli, E. Kuevda, M. Boieri, B. Mazzanti, A. Bianco, P. Macchiarini, Electrospun gelatin scaffolds incorporating rat decellularized brain extracellular matrix for neural tissue engineering, Biomaterials 35 (2014) 1205-1214.
- [152] P.M. Crapo, T.W. Gilbert, S.F. Badylak, An overview of tissue and whole organ decellularization processes, Biomaterials 32 (2011) 3233-3243.
- [153] F. Mahyudin, H. Hermawan. Biomaterials and Medical Devices. Springer International Publishing, Switzerland, 2016.
- [154] S.F. Badylak, T.W. Gilbert, Immune Response to Biologic Scaffold Materials, Semin. Immunol.20 (2008) 109-116.
- [155] J.A. DeQuach, S.H. Yuan, L.S.B. Goldstein, K.L. Christman, Decellularized Porcine Brain Matrix for Cell Culture and Tissue Engineering Scaffolds, Tissue Eng. Part A 17 (2011) 2583-2592.
- [156] M. Karimi, S. Bahrami, H. Mirshekari, S.M.M. Basri, A.B. Nik, A.R. Aref, M. Akbari, M.R. Hamblin, Microfluidic systems for stem cell-based neural tissue engineering, Lab Chip 16 (2016) 2551-2571.

- [157] L.M. Griep, F. Wolbers, B. de Wagenaar, P.M. ter Braak, B.B. Weksler, I.A. Romero, P.O. Couraud, I. Vermes, A.D. van der Meer, A. van den Berg, BBB ON CHIP: microfluidic platform to mechanically and biochemically modulate blood-brain barrier function, Biomed. Microdevices 15 (2013) 145-150.
- [158] A. Herland, A.D. van der Meer, E.A. FitzGerald, T.-E. Park, J.J.F. Sleeboom, D.E. Ingber, Distinct Contributions of Astrocytes and Pericytes to Neuroinflammation Identified in a 3D Human Blood-Brain Barrier on a Chip, PloS ONE 11 (2016) e0150360.
- [159] K.A. Southam, A.E. King, C.A. Blizzard, G.H. McCormack, T.C. Dickson, Microfluidic primary culture model of the lower motor neuron–neuromuscular junction circuit, J. Neurosci. Methods 218 (2013) 164-169.
- [160] O. Kilic, D. Pamies, E. Lavell, P. Schiapparelli, Y. Feng, T. Hartung, A. Bal-Price, H.T. Hogberg, A. Quinones-Hinojosa, H. Guerrero-Cazares, A. Levchenko, Brain-on-a-chip model enables analysis of human neuronal differentiation and chemotaxis, Lab Chip 16 (2016) 4152-4162.
- [161] L. Yao, S. Wang, W. Cui, R. Sherlock, C. O'Connell, G. Damodaran, A. Gorman, A. Windebank, A.
 Pandit, Effect of functionalized micropatterned PLGA on guided neurite growth, Acta Biomater.
 5 (2009) 580-588.
- [162] G. Li, X. Zhao, W. Zhao, L. Zhang, C. Wang, M. Jiang, X. Gu, Y. Yang, Porous chitosan scaffolds with surface micropatterning and inner porosity and their effects on Schwann cells, Biomaterials 35 (2014) 8503-8513.
- [163] J.S. Chua, C.-P. Chng, A.A.K. Moe, J.Y. Tann, E.L.K. Goh, K.-H. Chiam, E.K.F. Yim, Extending neurites sense the depth of the underlying topography during neuronal differentiation and contact guidance, Biomaterials 35 (2014) 7750-7761.
- [164] P. Roach, T. Parker, N. Gadegaard, M.R. Alexander, Surface strategies for control of neuronal cell adhesion: A review, Surf. Sci. Rep. 65 (2010) 145-173.

- [165] G.T. Christopherson, H. Song, H.-Q. Mao, The influence of fiber diameter of electrospun substrates on neural stem cell differentiation and proliferation, Biomaterials 30 (2009) 556-564.
- [166] S. Stolberg, K.E. McCloskey, Can shear stress direct stem cell fate?, Biotechnol. Prog. 25 (2009)10-19.
- [167] G.C. Reilly, A.J. Engler, Intrinsic extracellular matrix properties regulate stem cell differentiation,J. Biomech. 43 (2010) 55-62.
- [168] M.A. Green, L.E. Bilston, R. Sinkus, In vivo brain viscoelastic properties measured by magnetic resonance elastography, NMR Biomed. 21 (2008) 755-764.
- [169] A. Gefen, N. Gefen, Q. Zhu, R. Raghupathi, S.S. Margulies, Age-dependent changes in material properties of the brain and braincase of the rat, J. Neurotrauma 20 (2003) 1163-1177.
- [170] K. Miller, K. Chinzei, G. Orssengo, P. Bednarz, Mechanical properties of brain tissue in-vivo: experiment and computer simulation, J. Biomech. 33 (2000) 1369-1376.
- [171] A.J. Engler, S. Sen, H.L. Sweeney, D.E. Discher, Matrix Elasticity Directs Stem Cell Lineage Specification, Cell 126 (2006) 677-689.
- [172] A. Banerjee, M. Arha, S. Choudhary, R.S. Ashton, S.R. Bhatia, D.V. Schaffer, R.S. Kane, The influence of hydrogel modulus on the proliferation and differentiation of encapsulated neural stem cells, Biomaterials 30 (2009) 4695-4699.
- [173] K. Saha, A.J. Keung, E.F. Irwin, Y. Li, L. Little, D.V. Schaffer, K.E. Healy, Substrate Modulus Directs Neural Stem Cell Behavior, Biophys. J. 95 (2008) 4426-4438.
- [174] G.J. Her, H.-C. Wu, M.-H. Chen, M.-Y. Chen, S.-C. Chang, T.-W. Wang, Control of threedimensional substrate stiffness to manipulate mesenchymal stem cell fate toward neuronal or glial lineages, Acta Biomater. 9 (2013) 5170-5180.
- [175] S. Ali, I.B. Wall, C. Mason, A.E. Pelling, F.S. Veraitch, The effect of Young's modulus on the neuronal differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells, Acta Biomater. 25 (2015) 253-267.

[176] N.D. Evans, E. Gentleman, J.M. Polak, Scaffolds for stem cells, Mater. Today 9 (2006) 26-33.

- [177] S.L. Bellis, Advantages of RGD peptides for directing cell association with biomaterials, Biomaterials 32 (2011) 4205-4210.
- [178] U. Hersel, C. Dahmen, H. Kessler, RGD modified polymers: biomaterials for stimulated cell adhesion and beyond, Biomaterials 24 (2003) 4385-4415.
- [179] C.N. Salinas, K.S. Anseth, The influence of the RGD peptide motif and its contextual presentation in PEG gels on human mesenchymal stem cell viability, J. Tissue Eng. Regen. Med. 2 (2008) 296-304.
- [180] A.A. Sawyer, K.M. Hennessy, S.L. Bellis, Regulation of mesenchymal stem cell attachment and spreading on hydroxyapatite by RGD peptides and adsorbed serum proteins, Biomaterials 26 (2005) 1467-1475.
- [181] C.N. Salinas, K.S. Anseth, The enhancement of chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells by enzymatically regulated RGD functionalities, Biomaterials 29 (2008) 2370-2377.
- [182] X. Li, X. Liu, B. Josey, C.J. Chou, Y. Tan, N. Zhang, X. Wen, Short Laminin Peptide for Improved Neural Stem Cell Growth, Stem Cells Transl. Med. 3 (2014) 662-670.
- [183] Š. Kubinová, D. Horák, N. Kozubenko, V. Vaněček, V. Proks, J. Price, G. Cocks, E. Syková, The use of superporous Ac-CGGASIKVAVS-OH-modified PHEMA scaffolds to promote cell adhesion and the differentiation of human fetal neural precursors, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 5966-5975.
- [184] L.A. Smith Callahan, S. Xie, I.A. Barker, J. Zheng, D.H. Reneker, A.P. Dove, M.L. Becker, Directed differentiation and neurite extension of mouse embryonic stem cell on aligned poly(lactide) nanofibers functionalized with YIGSR peptide, Biomaterials 34 (2013) 9089-9095.
- [185] R. Bellamkonda, J.P. Ranieri, P. Aebischer, Laminin oligopeptide derivatized agarose gels allow three-dimensional neurite extension in vitro, J. Neurosci. Res. 41 (1995) 501-509.
- [186] Y.-C. Li, Y.-T. Liao, H.-H. Chang, T.-H. Young, Covalent bonding of GYIGSR to EVAL membrane surface to improve migration and adhesion of cultured neural stem/precursor cells, Colloids Surf. B. Biointerfaces 102 (2013) 53-62.

- [187] M.D. Pierschbacher, E. Ruoslahti, Cell attachment activity of fibronectin can be duplicated by small synthetic fragments of the molecule, Nature 309 (1984) 30-33.
- [188] X. Wang, K. Ye, Z. Li, C. Yan, J. Ding, Adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells on RGD nanopatterns of varied nanospacings, Organogenesis 9 (2013) 280-286.
- [189] P. Kolhar, V.R. Kotamraju, S.T. Hikita, D.O. Clegg, E. Ruoslahti, Synthetic surfaces for human embryonic stem cell culture, J. Biotechnol. 146 (2010) 143-146.
- [190] M.D. Pierschbacher, E. Ruoslahti, Influence of stereochemistry of the sequence Arg-Gly-Asp-Xaa on binding specificity in cell adhesion, J. Biol. Chem. 262 (1987) 17294-17298.
- [191] P.E. Hall, J.D. Lathia, M.A. Caldwell, C. ffrench-Constant, Laminin enhances the growth of human neural stem cells in defined culture media, BMC Neurosci. 9 (2008) 71-71.
- [192] K. Tashiro, G.C. Sephel, B. Weeks, M. Sasaki, G.R. Martin, H.K. Kleinman, Y. Yamada, A synthetic peptide containing the IKVAV sequence from the A chain of laminin mediates cell attachment, migration, and neurite outgrowth, J. Biol. Chem. 264 (1989) 16174-16182.
- [193] J. Graf, R.C. Ogle, F.A. Robey, M. Sasaki, G.R. Martin, Y. Yamada, H.K. Kleinman, A pentapeptide from the laminin B1 chain mediates cell adhesion and binds to 67000 laminin receptor, Biochemistry 26 (1987) 6896-6900.
- [194] Y. Ito, G. Chen, Y. Imanishi, T. Morooka, E. Nishida, Y. Okabayashi, M. Kasuga, Differential Control of Cellular Gene Expression by Diffusible and Non-Diffusible EGF, J. Biochem. 129 (2001) 733-737.
- [195] K. Alberti, R.E. Davey, K. Onishi, S. George, K. Salchert, F.P. Seib, M. Bornhauser, T. Pompe, A. Nagy, C. Werner, P.W. Zandstra, Functional immobilization of signaling proteins enables control of stem cell fate, Nat. Methods 5 (2008) 645-650.
- [196] S.A. DeLong, J.J. Moon, J.L. West, Covalently immobilized gradients of bFGF on hydrogel scaffolds for directed cell migration, Biomaterials 26 (2005) 3227-3234.

- [197] V.H. Fan, A. Au, K. Tamama, R. Littrell, L.B. Richardson, J.W. Wright, A. Wells, L.G. Griffith, Tethered Epidermal Growth Factor Provides a Survival Advantage to Mesenchymal Stem Cells, Stem Cells 25 (2007) 1241-1251.
- [198] A. Ghosh, J. Carnahan, M.E. Greenberg, Requirement for BDNF in Activity-Dependent Survival of Cortical Neurons, Science 263 (1994) 1618-1623.
- [199] P.U. Angeletti, R. Levi-Montalcini, P. Calissano, The Nerve Growth Factor (NGF): Chemical Properties and Metabolic Effects, Adv. Enzymol. Relat. Areas Mol. Biol., John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2006, pp. 51-75.
- [200] A. Jain, Y.-T. Kim, R.J. McKeon, R.V. Bellamkonda, In situ gelling hydrogels for conformal repair of spinal cord defects, and local delivery of BDNF after spinal cord injury, Biomaterials 27 (2006) 497-504.
- [201] K. Moore, M. Macsween, M. Shoichet, Immobilized Concentration Gradients of Neurotrophic Factors Guide Neurite Outgrowth of Primary Neurons in Macroporous Scaffolds, Tissue Eng. 12 (2006) 267-278.
- [202] M.K. Horne, D.R. Nisbet, J.S. Forsythe, C.L. Parish, Three-Dimensional Nanofibrous Scaffolds Incorporating Immobilized BDNF Promote Proliferation and Differentiation of Cortical Neural Stem Cells, Stem Cells Dev. 19 (2010) 843-852.
- [203] M.P. Mattson, T. Magnus, Aging and Neuronal Vulnerability, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 7 (2006) 278-294.
- [204] G. Lee, E.P. Papapetrou, H. Kim, S.M. Chambers, M.J. Tomishima, C.A. Fasano, Y.M. Ganat, J. Menon, F. Shimizu, A. Viale, V. Tabar, M. Sadelain, L. Studer, Modeling Pathogenesis and Treatment of Familial Dysautonomia using Patient Specific iPSCs, Nature 461 (2009) 402-406.
- [205] N. Farra, W.B. Zhang, P. Pasceri, J.H. Eubanks, M.W. Salter, J. Ellis, Rett syndrome induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neurons reveal novel neurophysiological alterations, Mol. Psychiatry 17 (2012) 1261-1271.

- [206] M. Amenduni, R. De Filippis, A.Y.L. Cheung, V. Disciglio, M.C. Epistolato, F. Ariani, F. Mari, M.A. Mencarelli, Y. Hayek, A. Renieri, J. Ellis, I. Meloni, iPS cells to model CDKL5-related disorders, Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 19 (2011) 1246-1255.
- [207] H.N. Nguyen, B. Byers, B. Cord, A. Shcheglovitov, J. Byrne, P. Gujar, K. Kee, B. Schüle, R.E. Dolmetsch, W. Langston, T. Palmer, R. Reijo Pera, LRRK2 Mutant iPSC-Derived DA Neurons Demonstrate Increased Susceptibility to Oxidative Stress, Cell Stem Cell 8 (2011) 267-280.
- [208] T. Juopperi, W. Kim, C.-H. Chiang, H. Yu, R. Margolis, C. Ross, G.-I. Ming, H. Song, Astrocytes generated from patient induced pluripotent stem cells recapitulate features of Huntington's disease patient cells, Mol. Brain 5 (2012) 17.
- [209] Y. Liu, L.F. Lopez-Santiago, Y. Yuan, J.M. Jones, H. Zhang, H.A. O'Malley, G.A. Patino, J.E. O'Brien,
 R. Rusconi, A. Gupta, R.C. Thompson, M.R. Natowicz, M.H. Meisler, L.L. Isom, J.M. Parent,
 Dravet syndrome patient-derived neurons suggest a novel epilepsy mechanism, Ann. Neurol.
 74 (2013) 128-139.
- [210] Y. Avior, I. Sagi, N. Benvenisty, Pluripotent stem cells in disease modelling and drug discovery, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 17 (2016) 170-182.
- [211] S. Humbert, Is Huntington disease a developmental disorder?, EMBO Rep. 11 (2010) 899-899.
- [212] G.-H. Liu, B.Z. Barkho, S. Ruiz, D. Diep, J. Qu, S.-L. Yang, A.D. Panopoulos, K. Suzuki, L. Kurian, C. Walsh, J. Thompson, S. Boue, H.L. Fung, I. Sancho-Martinez, K. Zhang, J.Y. Iii, J.C.I. Belmonte, Recapitulation of premature ageing with iPSCs from Hutchinson-Gilford progeria syndrome, Nature 472 (2011) 221-225.
- [213] Justine D. Miller, Yosif M. Ganat, S. Kishinevsky, Robert L. Bowman, B. Liu, Edmund Y. Tu, P.K. Mandal, E. Vera, J.-w. Shim, S. Kriks, T. Taldone, N. Fusaki, Mark J. Tomishima, D. Krainc, Teresa A. Milner, Derrick J. Rossi, L. Studer, Human iPSC-Based Modeling of Late-Onset Disease via Progerin-Induced Aging, Cell Stem Cell 13 691-705.

- [214] N.L. Payne, A. Sylvain, C. O'Brien, D. Herszfeld, G. Sun, C.C.A. Bernard, Application of human induced pluripotent stem cells for modeling and treating neurodegenerative diseases, N. Biotechnol. 32 (2015) 212-228.
- [215] T.I.S.C. Initiative, Screening ethnically diverse human embryonic stem cells identifies a chromosome 20 minimal amplicon conferring growth advantage, Nat. Biotechnol. 29 (2011) 1132-1144.
- [216] A. Abyzov, J. Mariani, D. Palejev, Y. Zhang, M.S. Haney, L. Tomasini, A.F. Ferrandino, L.A. Rosenberg Belmaker, A. Szekely, M. Wilson, A. Kocabas, N.E. Calixto, E.L. Grigorenko, A. Huttner, K. Chawarska, S. Weissman, A.E. Urban, M. Gerstein, F.M. Vaccarino, Somatic copy number mosaicism in human skin revealed by induced pluripotent stem cells, Nature 492 (2012) 438-442.
- [217] B.-Y. Hu, J.P. Weick, J. Yu, L.-X. Ma, X.-Q. Zhang, J.A. Thomson, S.-C. Zhang, Neural differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells follows developmental principles but with variable potency, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107 (2010) 4335-4340.
- [218] M. Löhle, A. Hermann, H. Glaß, A. Kempe, S.C. Schwarz, J.B. Kim, C. Poulet, U. Ravens, J. Schwarz, H.R. Schöler, A. Storch, Differentiation Efficiency of Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells Depends on the Number of Reprogramming Factors, Stem Cells 30 (2012) 570-579.
- [219] K. Meyer, L. Ferraiuolo, C.J. Miranda, S. Likhite, S. McElroy, S. Renusch, D. Ditsworth, C. Lagier-Tourenne, R.A. Smith, J. Ravits, A.H. Burghes, P.J. Shaw, D.W. Cleveland, S.J. Kolb, B.K. Kaspar, Direct conversion of patient fibroblasts demonstrates non-cell autonomous toxicity of astrocytes to motor neurons in familial and sporadic ALS, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 111 (2014) 829-832.
- [220] F.P. Di Giorgio, G.L. Boulting, S. Bobrowicz, K.C. Eggan, Human Embryonic Stem Cell-Derived Motor Neurons Are Sensitive to the Toxic Effect of Glial Cells Carrying an ALS-Causing Mutation, Cell Stem Cell 3 (2008) 637-648.

- [221] M. Eiraku, N. Takata, H. Ishibashi, M. Kawada, E. Sakakura, S. Okuda, K. Sekiguchi, T. Adachi, Y. Sasai, Self-organizing optic-cup morphogenesis in three-dimensional culture, Nature 472 (2011) 51-56.
- [222] A.M. Pasca, S.A. Sloan, L.E. Clarke, Y. Tian, C.D. Makinson, N. Huber, C.H. Kim, J.-Y. Park, N.A. O'Rourke, K.D. Nguyen, S.J. Smith, J.R. Huguenard, D.H. Geschwind, B.A. Barres, S.P. Pasca, Functional cortical neurons and astrocytes from human pluripotent stem cells in 3D culture, Nat. Methods 12 (2015) 671-678.
- [223] S. Daniel, P. Catarina, P. Stefania, W. Anne, P.C. J., B.A. E.P., L. Valerio, S.S. C., C.L. M., S. Sara, S. Margarida, T.A. P., Saggio Isabella, L.P. A., K.E. J., S. Giampietro, B. Catarina, A.P. M., Modeling Human Neural Functionality In Vitro: Three-Dimensional Culture for Dopaminergic Differentiation, Tissue Eng. Part A 21 (2015) 654-668.
- [224] P.P. Garcez, E.C. Loiola, R. Madeiro da Costa, L.M. Higa, P. Trindade, R. Delvecchio, J.M. Nascimento, R. Brindeiro, A. Tanuri, S.K. Rehen, Zika virus impairs growth in human neurospheres and brain organoids, Science 352 (2016) 816-818.
- [225] X. Qian, Ha N. Nguyen, Mingxi M. Song, C. Hadiono, Sarah C. Ogden, C. Hammack, B. Yao, Gregory R. Hamersky, F. Jacob, C. Zhong, K.-j. Yoon, W. Jeang, L. Lin, Y. Li, J. Thakor, Daniel A. Berg, C. Zhang, E. Kang, M. Chickering, D. Nauen, C.-Y. Ho, Z. Wen, Kimberly M. Christian, P.-Y. Shi, Brady J. Maher, H. Wu, P. Jin, H. Tang, H. Song, G.-I. Ming, Brain-Region-Specific Organoids Using Mini-bioreactors for Modeling ZIKV Exposure, Cell 165 (2016) 1238-1254.
- [226] S.H. Choi, Y.H. Kim, M. Hebisch, C. Sliwinski, S. Lee, C. D/'Avanzo, H. Chen, B. Hooli, C. Asselin, J. Muffat, J.B. Klee, C. Zhang, B.J. Wainger, M. Peitz, D.M. Kovacs, C.J. Woolf, S.L. Wagner, R.E. Tanzi, D.Y. Kim, A three-dimensional human neural cell culture model of Alzheimer's disease, Nature 515 (2014) 274-278.

^[227] The Drug Development Process, http://www.fda.gov/ForPatients/Approvals/Drugs/default.htm. Accessed November 3rd 2016

- [228] A.P. Li, Accurate prediction of human drug toxicity: a major challenge in drug development, Chem. Biol. Interact. 150 (2004) 3-7.
- [229] A. Astashkina, B. Mann, D.W. Grainger, A critical evaluation of in vitro cell culture models for high-throughput drug screening and toxicity, Pharmacol. Ther. 134 (2012) 82-106.
- [230] D. Schuster, C. Laggner, T. Langer, Why Drugs Fail A Study on Side Effects in New Chemical Entities, Curr. Pharm. Des. 11 (2005) 15.
- [231] D. Ito, H. Okano, N. Suzuki, Accelerating progress in induced pluripotent stem cell research for neurological diseases, Ann. Neurol. 72 (2012) 167-174.
- [232] T.A. Juopperi, H. Song, G.-I. Ming, Modeling neurological diseases using patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cells, Future Neurol. 6 (2011) 363-373.
- [233] C.B. Ricks, S.S. Shin, C. Becker, R. Grandhi, Extracellular matrices, artificial neural scaffolds and the promise of neural regeneration, Neural Regen. Res. 9 (2014) 1573-1577.
- [234] G. Yiu, Z. He, Glial inhibition of CNS axon regeneration, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 7 (2006) 617-627.
- [235] H. Zhang, T. Hayashi, K. Tsuru, K. Deguchi, M. Nagahara, S. Hayakawa, M. Nagai, T. Kamiya, A. Osaka, K. Abe, Vascular endothelial growth factor promotes brain tissue regeneration with a novel biomaterial polydimethylsiloxane–tetraethoxysilane, Brain Res. 1132 (2007) 29-35.
- [236]
 Cellular
 Gene
 Therapy
 Products:
 Marketed
 Products,

 http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/CellularGeneTherapyProducts/ApprovedProduct
 s/default.htm.
 Accessed 15th December 2016